AGENDA
Committee

-

CABINET

Date & Time

-

Tuesday, 21 November 2017 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:
Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader),
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C N
Johnson, C J Lawton and G J Taylor.
No substitutions permitted. Quorum 4.
Note:

Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels. They
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current
committee cycle.

Persons attending the meeting are
requested to turn mobile telephones to
silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE
Date: 13 November 2017

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the
Cabinet held on 19 September 2017 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4.

Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution
(Standing Orders).

5.

To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.

6.

To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules.

7.

Memorandum of Agreement between South Holland District Council and
Breckland Council - To review the Memorandum of Agreement between
South Holland District Council and Breckland Council (report of the
Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer and the Deputy Leader
enclosed)

(Pages
7 - 36)

8.

Update on the Garden Waste Collection Pilot - To update members on
the outcome of the Garden Waste Collection trial and to seek approval
to formalise this service into the base budget (report of the Portfolio
Holder for Place and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages
37 - 46)

9.

Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer Behaviour and
Vexatious Requests Policy - To consider the draft Policy for dealing with
Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer Behaviour and
Vexatious Requests (report of the Portfolio Holder for Governance and
Customer enclosed).

(Pages
47 - 60)

10.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy Update - To
ensure that the Council’s Policy and Procedures are updated in the light
of recommendations from the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner
(report of the Portfolio Holder Governance and Customer enclosed).

(Pages
61 - 64)

11.

Corporate Health and Safety Policy 2017 - To propose a revised Health
and Safety Policy and to recommend its formal adoption and
implementation (report of the Portfolio Holder Public Protection and the
Executive Manager People and Public Protection enclosed).

(Pages
65 - 90)

(Pages
1 - 6)

12.

Quarter 2 2017-18 Performance Overview To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 July 2017
to 30 September 2017 (report of the Executive Director Strategy and
Governance enclosed).

(Pages
91 122)

13.

Debt Management - Write Offs - To seek approval for the write off of
uncollectable debt, and to review and agree the process for delegated
approval of debt write off (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages
123 128)

(Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not
for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to
any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity
of an individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority
holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local
Government Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda as
item 17.)
14.

Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. Note:

(i)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s)
should be considered as a matter of urgency.

(ii)

Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

15.

To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 7
of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

16.

Insourcing of clearance and maintenance services - TUPE transfer To seek approval for the insourcing of work areas and transfer of staff to
the Council’s Environmental Services team (report of the Portfolio
Holder for Place and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages
129 134)

17.

Write Offs Appendices (enclosed)

(Pages
135 162)

This page is intentionally left blank

- 11 -

Agenda Item 2.

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 19 September 2017 at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
G A Porter (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
A Casson
P E Coupland

P E Coupland
C N Johnson

Cabinet Support Member:

T A Carter

C J Lawton
G J Taylor

The Executive Director Commercialisation, the Executive Director Place, the
Executive Manager Governance, the Place Manager, the Environmental Services
Manager, the Head of Finance, the Business Intelligence Officer and the Democratic
Services Officer.
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of the Chief Executive, the
Executive Director Strategy and Governance, and the Strategic Planning Manager,
together with the Lincolnshire Community & Voluntary Service and Welland Seniors
Forum.
In Attendance: Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel),
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader).
Action By

15.

MINUTES
The minutes of the following meetings were signed by the Leader
as a correct record:



16.

Meeting of the Cabinet held on 25 July 2017
Meeting of the Priory Road Community Hub Project SubCommittee held on 20 July 2017.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.
There were no declarations if interest.

17.

QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).
No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution
(Standing Orders).

Page 1

- 12 CABINET - 19 September 2017
18.

TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT
TO CALL-IN.
There were no matters subject to call-in.

19.

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS
There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels.

20.

PRIDE IN SOUTH HOLLAND (INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON
UNTIDY SITES).
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder
for Place and the Executive Director Place which sought approval
to recommend to Council the establishment of formal
arrangements to continue the Pride in South Holland programme
for 2017/2018 and 2018/2019. The report also provided an
update on Untidy Sites and advised members of structural
changes consequent upon the recent Place review.
Members were concerned about the increase in fly tipping within
the area, and requested information on how the Authority was
dealing with this problem, and details of any prosecutions. It was
agreed that this would be provided to all members,.
Members were keen to investigate the possibility of Government
funding to enable clearance and development of sites in
appropriate circumstances.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
a) That the contents of the report be noted;
b) That annual funds of up to £100,000 are released from the
Council’s reserves to enable the continuation of the Pride in
South Holland programme for 2017/2018 and 2018/2019; and
c) That the Pride in South Holland programme is reviewed during
2018/2019 to consider whether to further extend the period of
activity.
(Other options considered:
 To cease funding the Pride in South Holland programme.
Reasons for decision:
 To continue to provide a proactive focus in order to
improve the cleanliness and visual quality of the public
spaces within South Holland, thus meeting the corporate

Page 2

PJ

PJ

- 13 CABINET - 19 September 2017

priority ‘To have pride in South Holland by supporting the
district and residents to develop and thrive’ whilst
supporting the national Litter Strategy.)
21.

DELIVERING SPALDING'S RELIEF ROAD
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Deputy Leader
of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for Growth and
Commercialisation which updated members on progress, and a
series of workstreams relating to the delivery of Spalding’s
Western Road.
It was clarified that the internal road within the Holland Park
development would be provided at the same time as Section 1 of
the relief road, thereby bringing forward an alternative route
through the development which avoided the town.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
a) That members note and endorse the strategic direction, key
milestones and delivery strategy for Spalding’s Western Relief
Road (SWRR) outlined within the report;
b) That the Place Manager brings further reports to Council, as
appropriate, in order to update members on progress; and
c) That the Place Manager, in conjunction with both the Portfolio
Holder for Growth and Commercialisation and the Executive
Director Commercialisation, continues to work with the County
Council and key partners to ensure the delivery strategy for
the SWRR meshes with the Council’s key growth and
infrastructure ambitions.
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 The information contained within the body of the report
highlights matters that meet with both the Council’s and the
Government’s growth agendas, and additionally highlights
matters that meet with the Council’s Corporate Priorities
and the thrust of the emerging South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan.)

22.

LINCOLNSHIRE BUSINESS RATES POOL 2018/19
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance which sought approval for South Holland District Council
to be re-admitted to the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool for
2018-2019

Page 3

- 14 CABINET - 19 September 2017

It was reported that the rates appeals lodged by the power
stations were largely resolved. One no longer stood, and the
second was awaiting resolution of a minor matter.
The benefit of being in the Pool was that local authorities could
retain 60% of growth. However, any reduction in business rates
(such as some public bodies obtaining a charitable exemption)
would be a risk to the Pool and would not be protected by the
current ‘safety net’. Officers confirmed that as authorities entered
the Pool, they would be looking forward to assess and identify any
potential risks
DECISION:
a) That the re-admittance of South Holland District Council to the
Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool for 2018-19 and subsequent
years be approved; and
b) That delegated authority be given to the S151 Officer in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder Finance, to confirm the
arrangements with the other Lincolnshire local authorities.
(Other options considered:
 To not join the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool.
Reasons for decision:
 The projected figures for the Lincolnshire Business Rates
Pool present SHDC with a potentially significant financial
gain, since the rates appeals lodged by the power stations
had been largely resolved.)
23.

LONG SUTTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA
DESIGNATION
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Member
for Growth which invited members to formally designate the Long
Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area.
Attached at Appendix A to the report was a map detailing the
submitted Long Sutton Neighbourhood Plan area boundary, which
included the whole parish of Long Sutton.
DECISION:
That the Neighbourhood Plan area, as submitted by Long Sutton
Parish Council, and set out in Appendix A to the report, be
confirmed.

Page 4

- 15 CABINET - 19 September 2017

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing
Reasons for Decision:
 As highlighted within the report, the Neighbourhood Plan
area proposed is considered to be appropriate and there
are no issues that should affect the confirmation of the
Plan area.
 The alternative option to ‘do nothing’ would prevent the
Neighbourhood Plan from moving forward).
24.

QUARTER 1 FINANCE REPORT 2017/18
Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)
which provided information on Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2017), and
forecast full year financial position of the Council. Detailed
information was provided in Appendix A to the report.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance reported that there was currently
a small underspend however, the Quarter 2 figures would show a
more informed position.
DECISION:
That the report and appendices be noted.
(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To provide members with information on the overall
financial position of the Council.)

25.

QUARTER 1 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director
Strategy and Governance which provided an update on Council
performance for the period 1 April 2017 to 30 June 2017.
The Quarter 1 2017/18 Performance Report, attached at
Appendix A to the report, provided councillors and residents with
information about how the Council was delivering its services and
how it was progressing against its Corporate Priorities.
Quarter 2 showed increased levels of performance in the majority
of indicators. Two areas of concern were noted:


Housing Void Figures – The service was currently undergoing
a major redesign (as part of the ongoing Place Review) with
the process of void management an integral part of the

Page 5

- 16 CABINET - 19 September 2017



redesign.
Sickness – Breakdown of short and long term sickness was
now reported, which would provide more context to
understand where the days lost to sickness were marginally
higher and largely due to longer term illnesses.

DECISION:
That the report be noted.
(Other options considered:
 Do nothing;
Reasons for decision:
 No recommendations are made. The report is presented
for consideration in order that members are aware of how
the Council is delivering its services and how it is
progressing against its Corporate Priorities.)
26.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE
URGENT.
There were no urgent items.

(The meeting ended at 10.50 am)
(End of minutes)
These minutes are published on Tuesday 19 September 2017. In accordance with
the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on Wednesday 27 September
2017 (i.e. after the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these
minutes), unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward
Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the
Performance Monitoring Panel or any three members, and complies with the
requirements of the Council’s Constitution is served on the Executive Manager
Governance requesting that the decision be called-in and the Executive Manager
Governance approves the request for call-in. Where a decision is called-in it will
firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 20 September 2017.

Page 6

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Colin Johnson – Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer
Councillor Malcolm Chandler – Deputy Leader

To:

Cabinet 21 November 2017
Council 17 January 2018

(Author:

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy– Legal Services Manager)

Subject:

Memorandum of Agreement between South Holland District Council and
Breckland Council

Purpose:

To review the Memorandum of Agreement between South Holland District
Council and Breckland Council

Recommendation(s):
1)

That the Memorandum of Agreement attached at Appendix 1 to this report and as amended
be approved and recommended to Council for adoption

2)

That the Legal Services Manager, in consultation with the Executive Member for Governance
and Customer, be instructed to amend the Terms of Reference of the Joint Appointments and
Disciplinary Committee for submission to Council.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

On 1 April 2011, South Holland District Council and Breckland Council entered into a
Memorandum of Agreement. That document sets out the purpose and aims of the shared
management arrangements and the terms on which the Councils have agreed to operate
the arrangements.

1.2

A review of the Agreement took place at the end of 2014 and was subsequently varied on 9
January 2015.

1.3

There have been a number of staffing structure changes since the original Memorandum of
Agreement was completed in April 2011 and subsequently varied in January 2015. In some
services areas (examples being the Corporate Improvement and Performance Team and
the Legal Team) it has been recognised that there can be benefits to sharing posts that are
not part of the senior management structure. A key amendment to the Agreement is in
recognition of this.

1.4

Historically, the Agreement has included appendices showing the current senior
management structure and also the terms of reference of two joint committees. These
inevitably become out-of-date, and it is therefore proposed that these in future be
hyperlinked rather than set out in full in the Agreement.

1.5

Statutory references have been updated where appropriate.

1.6

A number of other minor amendments have been made to clarify wording. In addition, a
new clause has been added to ensure that there is clarity over insurance arrangements.

1.7

Some amendments have been made to the Terms of Reference of the Joint Strategy

Page 7

Board. These are mainly points of clarification, but also reflect the current practice under
which Joint Strategy Board normally meet annually, with Leaders and Deputy Leaders
normally meeting at least once between meetings of the Joint Strategy Board.
1.8

One area that has in the past been difficult to manage at times is the role of the Joint
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee in the appointment of Chief Officers or Deputy
Chief Officers. The constitutions of the councils provide that this is a formal committee and
each Council appoints four members in accordance with political balance rules (three
conservative members and one Independent group member). This can become
complicated because the Councils are also keen to ensure that there are an equal number
of members from each Council present at such meetings when the committee is involved in
recruitment. If one Council receives apologies from some of its members, it means that
there is a need to adjust the attendance from the other council – whilst bearing in mind the
desire for political proportionality. It is suggested that the Legal Services Manager prepares
proposals to submit to Council in respect of the Terms of Reference of that Joint Committee
in order to mitigate these difficulties.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Option 1 -

To approve in full the updated Memorandum of Agreement as detailed
in Appendix 1 to this report.

2.2

Option 2 -

To approve in part some of the recommended amendments to the
Memorandum of Agreement.

2.3

Option 3 -

Not to approve any updates to the Memorandum of Agreement.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The Memorandum of Agreement sets out the legal basis of the shared management
arrangements. It is important that the Agreement remains robust and reflects the current
operation of all shared staff and the shared management structure as amended from time
to time.

3.2

The Memorandum of Agreement is reviewed every two years, and the current review is
now due.

3.3

Approving the proposed amendments will bring greater certainty as to the parties’
respective rights and liabilities. Ensuring that the terms of the Agreement are certain will
minimise risk to the parties.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The revisions to the Memorandum of Agreement keep the Agreement relevant and legally
robust. The Agreement will be sealed shortly after both Councils have approved the
document (2 November 2017 at Breckland Council and 17 January 2018 at South Holland
District Council).

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

The carbon footprint and environmental implications of this report have been considered
and it is the opinion of the report writer that there are none.

Page 8

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

The operation of the shared management structure is underpinned by a legal contractual
relationship. It is in the interests of both parties to express their agreement in a formal
written contract as this brings a greater degree of certainty to the arrangements. The
Agreement requires Council approval at both authorities.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

The Memorandum of Agreement is a legally enforceable contract which sets out the various
rights and liabilities of the parties.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The Agreement underpins the shared management team which in turn helps the Council to
achieve its corporate priorities.

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

The Section 17 and Crime and Disorder implications of this report have been considered
and it is the opinion of the report writer that there are none.

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

The Equality and Diversity implications of this report have been considered and it is the
opinion of the report writer that there are none.

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

There are no financial costs directly associated with the recommendations of this report.

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

The health and wellbeing implications of this report have been considered and it is the
opinion of the report writer that there are none.

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

The recommendations reduce risk to both authorities, by ensuring that the terms agreed
are recorded accurately in writing and are kept up-to-date.

5.10

Staffing

5.10.1 The nature of this report impacts on staffing as it underpins the arrangements for shared
management across both Councils.
5.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 Both Councils are stakeholders.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All Wards.

Page 9

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

None.

Background papers:- none
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy
01362 656219
sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
1.

copy of revised Memorandum of Agreement

Page 10

Memorandum of Agreement
between
Breckland District Council
And
South Holland District Council

1 April 2011
(reviewed and amended on 9 January 2015
and [insert date] 2017)

relating to
an integrated Shared Management
Structure & agreed areas of Joint Working between
the two Councils

Page 11

CONTENTS
Clause

Description ( page numbers will need amending if tracked changes
accepted)

Page

1.

Introduction

2

2.

Background and Overview

2

3.

Definitions

3

4.

Preliminary

5

5.

The Joint Committees and Joint Strategy Board

6

6.

Shared Management Structure

7

7.

Finance

8

8.

Termination and Review

9

9.

Head of Paid Service

10

10.

Head of Paid Service: Supplementary

11

11.

Dispute Resolution

11

12.

No Fetter of Discretion

12

13.

Liabilities

12

14.

Intellectual Property Rights

12

15.

Notices

13

16.

Rights and Duties Reserved

13

17.

Legal and other Fees

13

18.

Provision of Statistical Information Accounts and other Documents etc

13

19.

Audit

13

20.

No partnership

14

21.

Anti-Corruption

14

22.

Discrimination

14

23.

Human Rights

15

24.

Freedom of Information

15

25.

Survival of this Agreement

15

26.

Whole Agreement

15

27.

Waiver

15

28.

Severance

15

29.

Headings

16

30.

Governing Law

16

31.

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

16

32.

Non-assignment

16

33.

Disruption

16

Page
1 12

34.

Health and Safety

16

Page
2 13

Memorandum of Agreement
Dated:

1 April 2011

The Parties
(1)

Breckland District Council whose principal office is at Elizabeth House,
Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk NR19 1EE (‘Breckland District Council’)
and

(2)

South Holland District Council whose principal office is at Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire PE11 2XE (‘South Holland District Council’).

1.

Introduction

1.1 This Memorandum of Agreement between the Councils sets out:

2.

a)

The purpose and aims of the shared management structure and agreed
areas of joint working; and

b)

The basis on which the Councils shall operate.

Background and Overview

2.1 Section 113 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that a local
authority may enter into an agreement with another local authority for the
placing at the disposal of the latter for the purposes of their functions, on such
terms as may be provided by the agreement, of the services and officers
employed by the former.
2.2 At their meetings on 28 July 2010 and 12 August 2010 South Holland District
Council and Breckland District Council respectively decided to prepare
proposals for an integrated shared management structure covering agreed
areas of joint working between the Councils.
2.3 At its meeting on 11 August 2010 South Holland District Council agreed to the
secondment of its Chief Executive, to Breckland District Council for 50% of
his/her time and at its meeting on 12 August 2010 Breckland District Council
approved the appointment of its Chief Executive and Head of the Paid Service
in a joint arrangement with South Holland District Council.
2.4 The requirements of the shared management structure are:
o To make financial savings to the combined staffing costs of the existing
management structures exceeding 35% plus other consequential
savings.
o To provide adequate management capacity to both authorities.
o For each council individually to continue to exercise democratically
accountable local government in their respective areas and have their

Page
3 14

own governance arrangements whilst sharing management of agreed
internal and external services.
o To provide opportunity and ease the transition to more joint
commissioning of services and sharing resources where a business case
supports such a decision.
o To be capable of both contraction if for example client roles for external
services are combined and expansion if for example a third local
authority wished to join, without the need to fundamentally redesign the
structure.
2.5 Whilst the primary purpose of the Shared Management Structure is to provide
an integrated structure comprising managers and other senior staff, the parties
have also recognised the benefits of placing some non-senior staff employed by
one of them at the disposal of the other in agreed service areas.
2.6 Although the shared management structure may provide opportunities and ease
the transition to joint commissioning of services and sharing resources, this
agreement does not commit either council to the commissioning of joint
services.
2.7 At their respective meetings on 15 December and 16 December 2010 the
Councils resolved to enter into this Agreement.
NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows
3.

Definitions

In this Agreement the following terms shall have the following meanings:
Term

Meaning

Chief Executive

the officer for the time being appointed as Chief
Executive of the Councils

Clause

a Clause in this Agreement

Commencement Date

1 April 2011

Council

South Holland District Council or Breckland District
Council as the case may be

Councils

both South Holland District Council and Breckland
District Council

Cabinet

The Cabinet of Breckland District Council or the
Cabinet of South Holland District Council as the case
may be appointed in accordance with Part II of the
Local Government Act 2000

Page
4 15

Executive Arrangements construed in accordance with Part II of the Local
Government Act 2000
Expenses

shall be interpreted in accordance with Clause 7

Head of Paid Service

the officer for the time being appointed under Section 4
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
(currently the Chief Executive)

Intellectual Property
Rights

All patents, rights to inventions, copyright and related
rights, trademarks and service marks, business names
and domain names, rights in get-up, goodwill, rights in
designs, rights in computer software, database rights,
rights to use, and protect the confidentiality of,
confidential information (including know-how) and all
other intellectual property rights, in each case whether
registered or unregistered and including all applications
and rights to apply for and be granted, renewals or
extensions of, and rights to claim priority from, such
rights and all similar or equivalent rights or forms of
protection which subsist or will subsist now or in the
future in any part of the world.

Leader of the Council

Leader of Breckland District Council or Leader of South
Holland District Council for the time being as the case
may be

The Joint Committees

the Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee and
the Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeals
Committee

The Joint Appointments
and Disciplinary
Committee

The Joint Appointments
and Disciplinary
Appeals Committee

the Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee
established by the
resolutions of the Councils at their respective meetings
on 15 December and 16 December 2010 and the terms
of reference as amended from time to time and as set
out in the respective Councils Constitution and found at
(insert hyperlink).
the Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeals
Committee
established by the resolutions of the Councils at their
respective meetings on 15 December and 16
December 2010 and with the terms of reference as

Page
5 16

amended from time to time and set out in the respective
Council’s Constitution and found at (insert hyperlink)
The Joint Strategy Board the advisory body established with the terms of
reference set out at Schedule 1

4.

Legal Adviser

the person for the time being appointed by Breckland
District Council or South Holland District Council to
provide legal advice to the Council or Councils and may
be an officer of the Council or Councils or an external
person who is legally qualified

Monitoring Officer

the officer for the time being appointed under Section 5
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Shared Management

Managers and other senior and non senior staff
employed within the joint structure who shall be
appointed by one Council and placed at the disposal of
the other Council.

Shared Senior
Management Team

the Shared Senior Management Team established by
Clause 6

Section 151 Officer

the officer for the time being appointed under Section
151 of the Local Government Act 1972

Preliminary

4.1 This Agreement is made pursuant to
(a) Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 (delegation to
joint committees);
(b) Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 (duty to appoint officers);
(c) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 (power to place staff at the
disposal of other local authorities);
(d) Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 (local authorities’ general power of
competence);
(e) Sections 14 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 and The Local
Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England)
Regulations 2000/2851 (joint arrangements for the exercise of executive
functions)
and all other enabling powers.

Page
6 17

4.2 This Agreement has been entered into by the Councils by virtue of the
resolutions of the Councils at their respective meetings on 15 December and 16
December 2010.
4.3 This Agreement shall commence on the Commencement Date and subject to
Clause 8 (Termination and Review) shall continue in full force and effect until
the Councils agree to terminate it.
4.4 The Councils shall at all times co-operate with each other and shall observe the
following key principles:








trust, transparency, integrity and respect
effective working relationships
co-operation, collaboration, and information-sharing whilst respecting the
confidentiality of the other Council
accountability
openness to change
systematic and outcome focussed
respect of the commercial sensitivity of relevant data

4.5 The Councils shall each use their best endeavours to ensure that their
contractors and other partners operate and provide their services and servicerelated information and data to the relevant Council in such a manner as to
support the aims of this Agreement generally and in a manner which observes
and supports the obligations set out in sub-clause 4.4 above
5.

The Joint Committees and Joint Strategy Board

5.1 The Councils have established the Joint Committees:



Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee
Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeals Committee

5.2 The Joint Committees had terms of reference agreed by the Councils at their
respective meetings on 15 December and 16 December 2010 Such other
amended terms of reference as they may recommend to the Councils and as
the Councils shall approve shall be implemented. The current terms of
reference or such terms of reference as from time to time are agreed can be
found at (insert hyperlink).
5.3 The Joint Strategy Board shall not be a formal joint committee within the
meaning of the Local Government Acts unless and until resolved otherwise. It
shall meet, operate and be serviced in accordance with its terms of reference at
Schedule 1
5.4 The Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee and the Joint Appointment
and Disciplinary Appeals Committee shall be joint committees within the
meaning of section 101 (5) of the Local Government Act 1972 and each council
shall allocate its members to the Joint Committee in accordance with the rules

Page
7 18

on political balance set out in Part I of the Local Government & Housing Act
1989.
5.5 The Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee and the Joint Appointment
and Disciplinary Appeals Committee shall be serviced by staff from either
Council unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Councils and where
there is any conflict with the terms of this Agreement then this Agreement shall
prevail.
5.6 Notwithstanding Clause 7 (Finance) below each Council shall meet any cost
that they incur arising from meetings of the Joint Committees and/or the Joint
Strategy Board.
5.7 The Joint Committees shall take into account advice from officers of the
Councils.
5.8 The Joint Committees shall meet as and when necessary having regard to their
terms of reference.
5.9 Where decisions are taken by one or other of the Joint Committees the
following principles and conditions shall apply:
(a) the Joint Committees shall have proper regard to any relevant resolution of
one Council provided that such resolution is not to the detriment of the
other Council;
(b) the Joint Committees shall satisfy themselves that any inter Council
consultation has been carried out;
(c) the taking of decisions shall be subject to there being appropriate and
adequate budgetary provision by the Councils;
(d) any decision which could have legal implications shall be taken in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Legal Adviser;
(e) any decision which could have financial implications shall be taken in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer;
5.10 The Joint Committees shall not be bodies corporate nor shall they have the
functions of acquiring or holding assets employing staff or entering into
contracts.
6.

The Shared Management Structure and the application of section 113 of
the Local Government Act 1972

6.1 The Councils agreed at their respective meetings on 15 December 2010 and 16
December 2010 to the creation of a Shared Management Structure. The
current structure or such structure as amended from time to time can be
obtained from the Monitoring Officer or located at [insert hyperlink].

Page
8 19

6.2 Staff within the Shared Management Structure may be employed by either one
of the Councils and having been so employed shall forthwith be placed at the
disposal of the Council who is not their employer. Except where agreed
otherwise in writing, all Shared Management appointments from 9 January 2015
shall be made by Breckland District Council and shall be placed at the disposal
of South Holland District Council.
6.3 For superannuation purposes service rendered by an officer of one of the
Councils whose services are placed at the disposal of the other in pursuance of
section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and hence in pursuance of this
Agreement is service rendered to the Council by whom he/she is employed
6.4 Any officer falling within the definition at 6.3 above shall be treated for the
purposes of any enactment relating to the discharge of functions of a local
authority as an officer of the other Council and members of the Shared Senior
Management Team and other shared officers may act and shall have powers to
act under the constitutions of the Councils.
6.5 The members of the Shared Senior Management Team and other shared
officers shall divide their time fairly and reasonably between the Councils and
shall not show bias towards one Council vis-à-vis the other.
6.6 The Chief Executive shall be the shared Head of Paid Service in respect of the
workforce of the Councils. The Chief Executive shall lead the Shared Senior
Management Team. Membership, frequency of meetings, terms of reference
and other matters relating to the Shared Senior Management Team shall be at
the discretion of the Chief Executive.
6.7 The Councils shall agree in writing financial arrangements as to the allocation of
pension contributions including those relating to payments due in respect of the
pension deficits of the two Councils upon the transfer appointment to or
employment of staff within the Shared Senior Management Team.
6.8 Supervision and line management responsibilities in respect of the Shared
Senior Management Team shall be as set out in the structure chart referred to
in Clause 6.1 and in respect of any other individual shall be as determined by
the relevant officer of the Shared Senior Management Team.
7.
7.1

Finance
The costs and savings arising from the creation of the Shared Senior
Management Team shall be apportioned as follows:
7.1.1 the costs of officer time and travel in supporting the project through the
evaluation to implementation of the Shared Senior Management Team
shall be absorbed by the employing authority;
7.1.2 the one-off costs of external support to facilitate the creation of the Shared
Senior Management Team including project management and recruitment
consultants shall be apportioned equally;
7.1.3 all redundancy and associated pension strain costs and subsequent
redundancy, Employment Tribunal or other dismissal claim costs arising

Page
9 20

from the creation or ongoing operation of the Shared Senior Management
Team shall be apportioned equally unless the Councils agree otherwise in
writing;
7.1.4 the ongoing salary and on-costs superannuation national insurance
training travel and incidental costs of the Shared Senior Management
Team and other shared officers and the costs incurred in servicing and
advising the Joint Committees shall be apportioned equally unless the
Councils agree otherwise in writing
7.1.5 any proposal to apportion or share on-going costs other than on an equal
shares basis in a particular year shall only be made following a resolution
of each Council’s Cabinet on the recommendation of the s151 Officer and
in the case of an apportionment that is a departure from the budget of each
Council by its full Council.
7.2

The Section 151 Officer shall account to each of the authorities annually
regarding the expenses of the Shared Senior Management Team by not later
than 30th June following the end of the financial year and shall render valid
VAT invoices accordingly.

7.3

Costs incurred upon termination shall be apportioned in accordance with
clause 8 below.

8.

Termination and Review

8.1 This Agreement shall continue unless terminated in accordance with this Clause
8 PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the provisions of this Clause 8 shall be subject to
any other provision of this Agreement extending financial liability beyond
termination.
8.2 Where one of the Councils proposes to withdraw from the Agreement for
whatever reason that Council shall prepare a report to the Joint Strategy Board
setting out its reasons. If the Joint Strategy Board acting reasonably cannot
remedy the problem (and such remedy shall include invoking Clause 11 Dispute
Resolution unless both Councils agree otherwise in writing) within a reasonable
time and to the reasonable satisfaction of both Councils then the Council
proposing to withdraw shall be at liberty to withdraw from this Agreement and to
bring the arrangements for a Shared Management Structure to an end.
8.3 Where the reasons for the proposed withdrawal involve a proposal by an
employing Council to suspend dismiss or discipline a particular member of that
Council’s staff and the Joint Strategy Board acting reasonably cannot remedy
the problem within a reasonable time to the reasonable satisfaction of both
Councils (and such remedy shall include invoking Clause 11 Dispute Resolution
unless both Councils agree otherwise in writing) then the employing Council
shall be at liberty to suspend dismiss or discipline the particular member of staff
concerned and withdraw from this Agreement.
8.4 Where the reasons for the proposed withdrawal involve a proposal by a Council
to suspend dismiss or discipline a particular member of the other Council’s staff
and the Joint Strategy Board acting reasonably cannot remedy the problem
within a reasonable time to the reasonable satisfaction of both Councils (and

Page
10 21

such remedy shall include invoking Clause 11 Dispute Resolution unless both
Councils agree otherwise in writing) then the Council so proposing shall be at
liberty to withdraw from this Agreement.
8.5 Where either of the Councils terminates or withdraws from this Agreement they
shall do so by giving to the other not less than six months’ prior written notice
and such a decision to terminate or withdraw may only be made by that Council
acting by its full Council.
8.6 In the event of a termination for any reason the Councils shall:
(a) co-operate in terminating modifying restructuring assigning or novating
contractual arrangements entered into to mutual advantage and properly
and timeously execute any documents necessary;
(b) use best endeavours to secure an amicable and equitable financial
settlement;
(c) immediately transfer or return any property including data belonging to the
other Council;
(d) ensure that each Council is allocated a fair and reasonable proportion of
the members of the Shared Senior Management Team subject to any
necessary actions being taken as required by employment law or by the
policies of the transferring council so that (1) each Council can maintain
continuity in the provision of its services at a reasonable level of
effectiveness and efficiency and (2) they become employed by the Council
to which they are transferred.
8.7 In the event of a termination however and whenever occurring the costs
consequential upon such termination including costs of recruitment selection
administration but not salary costs after the date of termination shall subject
always to clause 7.1.3 be apportioned equally between the Councils and each
Council shall indemnify and keep indemnified the other Council in respect of
that Council’s share from and against any actions and causes of action claims
demands proceedings damages losses costs charges and expenses
whatsoever arising from or in connection with such termination or withdrawal
and such indemnity shall continue after the termination of this Agreement.
8.8 The Councils may review and seek to amend this Agreement from time to time
and in any event shall carry out a review as to the efficacy and relevance of its
terms upon every second anniversary of the Commencement Date unless the
Councils shall agree otherwise. All changes arising upon such reviews shall
only take effect upon the completion and sealing of a formal amending
Agreement.
8.9 No deletion, addition or modification to this Agreement shall be valid unless
agreed in writing and sealed by the Councils.

Page
11 22

9.

Head of Paid Service: Application of section 4 of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989

9.1 The Chief Executive has been appointed Head of Paid Service by the Councils.
9.2 The Councils shall provide that officer with such staff accommodation and other
resources as are in his/her opinion sufficient to allow his/her duties to be
performed.
9.3 It shall be the duty of the Head of Paid Service where he/she considers it
appropriate to do so in respect of any proposals of his/hers with respect to any
of the matters specified below to prepare a report to either one or both of the
Councils setting out his/her proposals. Where the proposals in question affect
the Shared Management Structure or Shared Senior Management Team then
any such report must be submitted to both Councils. The matters are:
9.3.1 the manner in which the discharge by either one or both of the Councils
of their different functions is co-ordinated;
9.3.2 the number and grades of staff required by the Councils for the discharge
of their functions;
9.3.3 the organisation of the staff of the Councils; and
9.3.4 the appointment and proper management of the staff of the Councils.
9.4 It shall be the duty of the Head of Paid Service as soon as practicable after
he/she has prepared such a report to arrange for a copy of it to be sent to each
member of either one or both of the Councils as the case may be.
9.5 It shall be the duty of each of the Councils separately to consider any such
report by the Head of Paid Service at a meeting held not more than three
months after copies of the report are first sent to councillors of one or both of
the Councils.
10. Head of Paid Service: Supplementary
10.1 Without prejudice to Clause 9 above it shall be the duty of the Head of Paid
Service to ensure that all councillors have such access to and support from all
officers of their Council and in particular to the Head of Paid Service and
Shared Senior Management Team as they may reasonably expect.
10.2 Without prejudice to Clause 9 above the duties of the Head of Paid Service
shall include advising the Joint Committees and advising the Cabinet of each
Council in respect of executive functions within the meaning of the Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) or
the full Council or relevant committee of each Council in respect of non
executive functions within the meaning of the said regulations and the duty of
the Head of Paid Service to advise the Councils shall include but not be limited
to providing advice on:

Page
12 23

(a) The structure of the Shared Senior Management Team of the Councils;
(b) The host employer for each post; and
(c) Performance management of the Shared Senior Management Team.
11. Dispute Resolution
11.1 In the event of a dispute concerning the construction or effect of this Agreement
which cannot be resolved by the Joint Strategy Board the matter shall be
referred to the Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee which shall take
all reasonable steps to conciliate and resolve such dispute or difference
whether by negotiation, mediation or any other form of dispute resolution
procedures (with a view to resolution by discussion and negotiation).
11.2 In the event that a matter in dispute cannot be resolved under Clause 11.1
above the matter shall (unless the Councils agree otherwise in writing) be
referred to an arbitrator under Clause 11.3 below.
11.3 The arbitrator shall be appointed with the agreement of the Councils or in the
event that agreement cannot be reached by the President or other chief officer
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators or such other professional body
appropriate to the matter in dispute (such body to be determined by the Chief
Executive). The costs of arbitration shall be borne jointly by the Councils.
11.4 The resolution of unresolved disputes in respect of the expenses of any Joint
Committee to which section 103(b) the Local Government Act 1972 applies
shall be determined in accordance with that section by a single arbitrator agreed
on by the Councils or in default of agreement appointed by the Secretary of
State.
11.5 For the avoidance of doubt this Clause shall remain in effect after the
termination or expiry of this Agreement to confer powers on the Councils to
resolve matters remaining in dispute.
12. No Fetter of Discretion
12.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall fetter the discretion of the Councils.
13. Liabilities
13.1 The Councils shall be jointly and severally liable to any third parties in respect of
all actions and causes of action claims demands proceedings damages losses
costs charges and expenses directly arising from this Agreement. Each council
shall indemnify and keep indemnified the other Council from and against and to
the extent of the indemnifying Council’s liability for any actions and causes of
action claims demands proceedings damages losses costs charges and
expenses directly arising from or in connection with this Agreement and such
liability and indemnity shall continue after the termination of this Agreement.

Page
13 24

13.2 Each Council shall ensure that it has all appropriate insurances relating to
public liability employee liability professional indemnity and Member indemnity
to cover any liabilities arising under this Agreement.
13.3 Each Council shall ensure that such insurance shall cover any officer employed
by the other Council whilst that officer is conducting business for and has been
placed at its disposal
14. Intellectual Property Rights
14.1 Each Council shall retain the ownership of all Intellectual Property Rights it
owns as at 1 April 2011 in any materials which it has created or the creation of
which was undertaken by a third party which it commissioned to create those
materials.
14.2 Any new material created jointly by the Councils in the course of provision of the
Shared Senior Management Team shall belong to the Councils jointly unless
otherwise agreed in writing.
14.3 Each Council hereby grants a licence to the other to use its Intellectual Property
Rights incorporated in or appearing from the materials referred to in clauses
14.1 and 14.2 for the purposes of the performance of this Agreement and the
delivery of all services by the Councils.
15. Notice
15.1 Any notice to be served under this Agreement shall be valid and effective if it is
addressed to the Chief Executive and delivered by e-mail fax prepaid recorded
delivery post or delivered by hand to the other Council’s principal office.
16. Rights and Duties Reserved
16.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall prejudice or fetter the proper exercise of any
function by the Councils or their officers.
17. Legal and other Fees
17.1 Each Council shall bear its own legal and other fees in relation to the
preparation and completion of this Agreement.
18. Provision of Statistical Information Accounts and other Documents etc.
18.1 Each Council shall make available to the other such statistical information which
each Council may from time to time reasonably require.
18.2 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement requiring the keeping of
records the supply of statistics or the provision of information the Councils shall
keep such other records and details of or concerning the Shared Senior
Management Team or their performance as the Councils may require and shall

Page
14 25

produce or provide to the other copies whether kept electronically or in paper
format of such accounts invoices orders contracts receipts statistics and other
information or documents touching or concerning or arising from this Agreement
or their performance of this Agreement as and when and in such form as each
Council may reasonably require.
18.3 Without prejudice to any provision in this Agreement the Councils shall keep
and maintain all necessary information and shall provide all necessary
assistance to enable each Council to complete all necessary official returns or
statistics related to this Agreement.
18.4 The Councils shall supply each other with such assistance and information as
each Council may require to enable it to allocate such expenditure as each
Council may incur under this Agreement.
19. Audit
19.1

Each Council’s external and internal auditors shall have the like powers set
out in The Local Authority Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and any
subsequent amending repealing and superseding legislation. Each Council shall at
all reasonable times (including following the termination for whatever reason of this
Agreement) allow or procure for any auditor for the purposes of an external or
internal audit immediate access to and permission to copy and remove any copies of
and permission to remove the originals of any books records and information in the
possession or control of either Council which in any way relates to or are or were
used in connection with this Agreement including (but without limitation) any of each
Council’s data and any such information stored on a computer system operated by a
contractor servant or agent of the other Council.
19.2 Each Council will provide all practicable co-operation and afford all appropriate
access to personnel and records in order to assist the requesting Council in
carrying out any investigations which are already under way at the
Commencement Date and any investigations which are carried out after the
termination or expiry of this Agreement but which relate to any period during
which the Shared Management Structure was in effect.
20. No Partnership
20.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as establishing or implying any
legal partnership or joint venture between the Councils.
21. Anti-Corruption
21.1 Either Council may cancel this Agreement at any time and recover from the
other the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation if any of the
following apply:
(a) the other Council has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any
gift or consideration as an inducement or reward (1) for doing or forbearing
to do or for having done or forborne to do any action in relation to the

Page
15 26

obtaining or execution of the Agreement or any other contract with the
Council (2) for showing or forbearing to show favour or disfavour to any
person in relation to the Agreement or any other contract with the Council;
(b) any person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council (whether
with or without the other Council’s knowledge or consent) acts in similar
manner to that set out in sub Clause (a) above;
(c) in relation to any contract or potential contract with the Council the other
Council or any person employed by or acting on behalf of the other Council
shall have committed any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts
1906 to 1916 or any amendment or replacement of them or the Bribery Act
2010 or shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an
offence under Sub Section (2) of Section 117 of the Local Government Act
1972.
22. Discrimination
22.1 The Councils shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of
the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 and any other legislation prohibiting
discrimination on any grounds whatsoever. The Councils shall take all
reasonable steps to secure the observance of these provisions and any
statutory provisions amending or replacing the same by its employees in the
performance of the Agreement.
23. Human Rights/Safeguarding
23.1 The Councils in the performance of this Agreement shall comply with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Safeguarding Vulnerable
Groups Act 2006 in all respects as if the Joint Committees were public bodies
within the meaning of the Act. The Councils shall indemnify and keep
indemnified each other against all actions and causes of action claims demands
proceedings damages losses costs charges and expenses whatsoever in
respect of any breach by the one Council of this Clause and such indemnity
shall continue after the termination of this Agreement.
24. Freedom of Information
24.1 It is agreed that the Councils are subject to the provisions of the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations. Each
waives all claims of commercial or other confidentiality in respect of this
Agreement.
25. Survival of this Agreement
25.1 In so far as any of the rights and powers of the Councils provided for in this
Agreement shall or may be exercised or exercisable after the termination or
expiry of this Agreement the provisions of this Agreement conferring such rights
and powers shall survive and remain in full force and effect notwithstanding
such termination or expiry.

Page
16 27

25.2 In so far as any of the obligations of the Councils provided for in this Agreement
remain to be discharged after the termination or expiry of this Agreement the
provisions of this Agreement imposing such obligations shall survive and remain
in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination or expiry.
26. Whole Agreement
26.1 This Agreement constitutes the whole agreement and understanding of the
Councils as to its subject matter and there are no extant prior or
contemporaneous agreements between the Councils.
27. Waiver
27.1 Failure by either Council at any time to enforce any provision of this Agreement
or to require performance by the other or others of any of the provisions of this
Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any such provisions and shall
not affect the validity of this Agreement or any part or the right of that party to
enforce any terms and provision of this Agreement.
28. Severance
28.1 If any term or provision of this Agreement shall in whole or in part become or
shall be declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or
unenforceable in any way such invalidity or unenforceability shall in no way
impair or affect any other term or provision all of which shall remain in full force
and effect.
29. Headings
29.1 Headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall
not affect the validity or construction of this Agreement.
30. Governing Law
30.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with
English law and the Councils submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English
courts.
31. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
31.1 The Councils do not intend that any term of this Agreement should be
enforceable by any third party as provided by the Contracts (Rights of Third
Parties) Act 1999.
32. Non-assignment
32.1 Neither of the Councils shall be entitled to assign this Agreement or any of its
rights and obligations under it without the written consent of the other (which
consent the other Council may in its absolute discretion withhold).

Page
17 28

33. Disruption
33.1 The Councils shall take reasonable care to ensure that in the execution of this
Agreement it does not disrupt the operations of the other Council its employees
or any other third party.
34. Health and Safety
34.1 Each Council shall promptly notify the other of any health and safety hazards
which may arise in connection with the performance of this Agreement and shall
promptly notify each other of any health and safety hazards which may exist or
arise at a Council’s premises and which may affect the performance of this
Agreement.
34.2 While on the Council’s premises, the Shared Senior Management Team shall
comply with any health and safety measures implemented by the Council in
respect of employees and other persons working on those premises.
34.3 Each Council shall notify the other immediately in the event of any incident
occurring in the performance of this Agreement on the Council’s premises
where that incident causes any personal injury or damage to property which
could give rise to personal injury.
34.4 The Councils shall comply with the requirements of the Health and Safety at
Work etc. Act 1974 and any other acts, orders, regulations and codes of
practice relating to health and safety, which may apply to employees and other
persons working on Council premises in the performance of this Agreement.
34.5 The Councils shall ensure that their health and safety policy statements (as
required by the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974) are made available to
each other on request.

Page
18 29

IN WITNESS of which this Agreement has been executed as a Deed on the fist day
before written

The Common Seal of Breckland
District Council was fixed here
in the presence of:

Authorised Officer

The Common Seal of South Holland
District Council was fixed here
in the presence of:

Authorised Officer

Page
19 30

SCHEDULE 1
This schedule relating to the JOINT APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE has been
deleted and a hyperlink has been included in the Agreement.

Page 31

SCHEDULE 2
This schedule relating to the JOINT APPOINTMENTS A P P E A L S COMMITTEE
has been deleted and a hyperlink has been included in the Agreement.

Page 32

SCHEDULE 1
South Holland District Council and Breckland Council
Joint Strategy Board
Terms of Reference
Background
South Holland District Council and Breckland Council entered into a shared
management arrangement form 1 April 2011. The Agreement remains in force until
terminated by either or both of the Councils. To support the joint management structure
and joint working of the councils, it has been agreed that meetings of the Joint Strategy
Board will be held to consider matters of interest, opportunities for joint working and any
potential further joint working of the two councils.
Role and function
The Joint Strategy Board is not a decision-making group.
The Joint Strategy Board will have the following roles and functions:
1. Monitoring the shared management arrangements and seeking to resolve
disputes in accordance with Clause 8 and Clause 11
2. Advising on proposals brought forward on shared management arrangements
and other joint working between the councils
3. To explore areas of Corporate Planning that are of mutual interest
4. To consider areas of innovation and budget efficiencies across both Councils
5. To submit proposals arising from 2, 3 and 4 above through formal decision
making process at each council.
Membership/Attendance
The Joint Strategy Board will comprise:
o
o

All Cabinet members of each Council
The Chief Executive

No substitutions to be allowed
Other officers and/or members may be invited to attend meetings of the Joint Strategy
Board by the Chief Executive or by the Leaders of the two Councils (who must agree
any such an invitation in advance of the meeting)
Meetings
The Joint Strategy Board will normally meet annually. In addition the Leaders and
Deputy Leaders will normally meet at least once between meetings of the Joint Strategy
Board.

Page 33

The meetings will be chaired alternately by the Leader of each Council.
Administration for the meeting will be undertaken by the Democratic Services Team at
each Council
Minutes of each meeting will be prepared by the Chief Executive within fourteen days of
the meeting and will be circulated to all members of the Joint Strategy Board. Action
points will be prepared by the Chief Executive and will be circulated to all shared
managers.
Shared managers shall undertake all actions allocated to them, or shall allocate and
disseminate those actions to staff for whom they are responsible. Shared Managers
shall report back to the Joint Strategy Board as required by the Board.
These terms of reference will be reviewed every two years at the first meeting after the
start of the municipal year and may be varied by agreement between the Councils

Page 34

SCHEDULE 4
This schedule relating to the SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE CHART has
been deleted and a hyperlink has been included in the Agreement.

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Roger Gambba-Jones, Portfolio Holder of Place and Robert Walker,
Director of Place.

To:
Cabinet Tuesday 24th November 2017
South Holland District Council Wednesday 17th January 2018
(Author:

Emily Spicer, Environmental Services Manager)

Subject:

Garden Waste Collections in South Holland.

Purpose:

To update members on the outcome of the Garden Waste Collection trial and to seek
approval to formalise this service into the base budget.

Recommendation(s):
1)

That the contents of this report are noted.

2)

That approval is given for the Garden Waste Collection Scheme to become a formal offered
service within target areas (not all of the district).

3)

That approval is given to extend the Garden Waste Collection Scheme to two collection
routes from 1 April 2018.

4)

That the purple sack garden waste disposal service is reviewed in line with the extension of
the Garden Waste Collection Scheme.

5)

That £240,000 is released from the Investment and Growth reserve in 2017/18 in order to
finance the capital requirements (one vehicle and wheeled bin provision) of a second route to
the garden waste collection scheme.

6)

A further £165,000 is approved as a commitment from the Investment and Growth reserve in
2021/22 in order to finance the capital requirements (replacement vehicle).

7)

That in year 1 (2018/19), based on the mid case scenario (Table 3, Option 2), the revenue
budget is increased by up to £90,000 (net expenditure), that the funding for this initial
investment is taken from the Investment and Growth Reserve, and that the revenue budgets
will be reviewed and adjusted in accordance with demand during 2018/19.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In April 2016, South Holland District Council introduced a two year trial garden waste collection
service to test whether adequate subscribers could be gained to make that service at least selffinancing.

1.2

Collecting garden waste is a discretionary service and Members of South Holland District Council
were keen to provide a collection that would only be financed by those using that service and not the
general tax payer of South Holland.

1.3

An existing refuse collection vehicle was converted to enable bin-lifting capabilities and was deployed
in a targeted area for garden waste collections based on a commercial approach (it was not a
universal scheme). Two methods of collection were introduced for customers to choose from, a 240
litre brown wheeled bin or paper compostable sacks.

Page 37

Garden Waste Collection Trial Results.
1.4

Over the 2 year trial period, the Garden Waste Collection trial, which has now reached full capacity,
has been extremely successful both in financial terms and from customer feedback.

1.5

In the Cabinet report (November 2015) it was estimated that the net income for 2016/17 would be
£44,000 and for 2017/18 would be £38,000, showing an accumulative income of £82,000. The
success of the pilot scheme and the high level of subscriptions take up has meant that the pilot
developed quicker and differently than anticipated. However, these figures can still be considered as
the target net income for the garden waste collection pilot.

1.6

During the trial, 3,404 subscriptions have been secured with 324 of those properties also having
purchased additional bins. This is against the original business case target of 2,300 subscriptions
required with 300 additional bins purchased. Equally, 222 packs of paper sacks have been purchased
against a target of 300.

1.7

A financial impact summary of the trial results (revenue costs for Garden Waste Collection Trial are
detailed in appendix A) :
Revenue Impact
Capital
Cost

Average
Users

Running
Costs

£000

No.

£000

2016/17
2017/18

78
78

3,085
3,404

Contribution
To Reserves
£000

Total
Income
£000

-

(210)
(176)

139
132

Net
£000
(71)
(44)
(115)

When comparing performance against actual targets there is an over achievement of £33,000.









Capital costs include alterations to existing vehicle and purchase of bins.
Income charged at £49 per household plus £30 per additional bin.
2016/17 costs and income includes one-off delivery charges (£15).
2017/18 based on forecast figures in terms of income and expenditure.
No contribution to reserves for vehicle purchase programme as pilot scheme.
Scheme demonstrates initial return on capital investment in less than 2 years.
As at 31st March approximately 324 users have a second bin.
No indirect costs included e.g. depot costs, support services, management costs as pilot
scheme.

1.8

25 compliments have formally been received throughout the trial period, supplemented by numerous
informal compliments through Customer Services, Members of the Council, Environmental Services,
customers and other sources.

1.9

The garden waste collection scheme has increased the recycling and composting rate by 3.93%
(2016/17). The overall recycling and composting performance for 2016/17 being 28.3%.

1.10

In exceeding the targets and business objectives set out in the original approved report (Cabinet, 10th
November 2015), the garden waste collection trial has demonstrated success at being a standalone
service.
Emerging issues
During the last two months, a number of issues have emerged that need to be considered. These are
as follows:

Page 38

1.9

A growing waiting list: There are currently 1,555 households registered on the waiting list for a brown
collection bin. 1,300 of these are in the current trial area and are only unable to subscribe because
the current vehicle has reached bin capacity. Through ‘word of mouth’, officers are also aware that a
number of households wishing to subscribe have not signed up to the waiting list.

1.10

Service continuation: Over the past number of month’s customers have made contact to enquire as
to whether the service will continue after the end of the two year trial.

1.11

Other options for garden waste disposal: In line with the Council’s legal obligations under the
Environmental Protection Act 1990, a collection of garden waste (purple sacks) has been offered at a
charge to households. Historically (without a formal garden waste service), any garden waste material
collected by this method is disposed of through the residual waste collections. With residual waste
sources in Lincolnshire approaching maximum capacity, Lincolnshire County Council as Waste
Disposal Authority are keen for collections of this type to end and for garden waste materials to be
diverted for composting.

1.12

Recycling performance: In July 2017, South Holland District Council received correspondence from
Defra regarding a reported recycling percentage of below 30%. The correspondence enquired about
the reasons for this performance and the Council’s intentions to improve this situation.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Do nothing – this option does not provide customers of the current garden waste collection trial with
the assurances they seek.

2.2

Option 1: Formalise garden waste collection service (without extension) – this option provides
the assurances for current customers of the scheme however with capacity reached with the one
collection vehicle no further subscribers may be included in the scheme. This leads to discontent for
potential future customers and also caps current revenue generation.

2.3

Option 2 (recommended): Formalise garden waste collection service and extend to meet
current demand – this option provides assurances to current customers, provides opportunities for
new customers and offers the prospect for further revenue generation.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
The strategy for providing a formal garden waste collection service addresses the following business
objectives:





To meet residents needs and demands for a kerbside garden waste collection service.
To provide an efficient and effective collection service.
To provide a cost effective service at no cost to other District Council Tax Payers
To develop an approach to improve customer insight for Environmental Services but also to the
benefit of the Council.
 To improve household recycling and composting rates.
 To reduce the amount of waste sent for final disposal and divert that waste for composting.
4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The following benefits are expected on approval of the recommendations:





Improved current customer satisfaction (assurance service is to continue).
Increased service capacity and subscriber numbers.
Reduced waiting list numbers.
Provision of a cost effective service.

Page 39

 Increased household recycling rate and reduction in garden waste sent for residual disposal.
 Consistency in the garden waste collection service offered to customers.
5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

Although expansion in service and associated vehicle movements will increase the carbon footprint
of the Council, the carbon footprint of households travelling to the Household Waste Recycling Centre
in Spalding to dispose of garden waste will reduce further.

5.1.2

In addition the diversion of garden waste from residual waste disposal (through purple sacks) to
composting will assist in offsetting some of the additional carbon emissions generated from
collections.

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

This report will be determined at a meeting of South Holland District Council on Wednesday 17th
January 2018 in line with the Council’s constitution in seeking additional budget requirements.

5.2.2

The Environmental Protection Act (1990) gives power to Waste Collection Authorities to make a
charge (section 45 (3)) in order to recover reasonable costs from the person requesting the garden
waste collection service. In addition, powers conferred by the Local Government Act 2003 allow local
authorities to charge for discretionary services. This charge enables South Holland District Council to
offer services such as the kerbside collection of garden waste without reducing the funding available
to other services.

5.2.3

The service offered is entirely optional and if residents wish to dispose of their own garden waste this
can be done for free at Household Waste Recycling Centres or by home composting.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

Should the recommendations of this report be approved by Members, additional assets such as a
collection vehicle and bins will be accessed through the appropriate procurement process and
existing framework agreements.

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1

The approval of the recommendations within this report would allow an extended garden waste
collection scheme to contribute to the following corporate objectives:
‘To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way’

To ensure that Council services are accessible, customer friendly and responsive to residents and business
needs;
To develop and implement a commercial approach to ensure a secure financial position
5.5
5.5.1

Crime and Disorder
There are no crime and disorder issues associated with this report.

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

Whilst extending the current subscription base, the collection routes will still be selected on a targeted
basis. This targeted area is based on current routes, numbers of properties per area and current

Page 40

waiting list indications. It is important to note that the extended service will still not cover the entire
district at this stage.
5.6.2

5.7
5.7.1

In terms of physically accessing the service, the Council will continue to offer an assisted collection
for any person that is unable to position their bin or bag at the edge of their property where they are
the only occupant of the household.
Financial Impact
In order to assess the potential financial implications of the options, 3 scenarios have been costed
based on different subscription rates. The following detailed analysis is based on the mid-point (most
likely scenario). The following tables set out:





5.7.2

The initial 2 year trial period,
Continuing the current service based on a single vehicle, and
Extending the service to meet demand through the provision of a second vehicle.
Sensitivity analysis of 3 scenarios setting out the financial implications of different subscriber
rates.

Members should note the following assumptions within the figures:






The use of reserves to fund the initial capital and ongoing capital costs of the vehicles and bins
is repaid through an annual contribution from revenue back to the reserves over 7 years
(vehicle) and 15 years (bins).
The figures do not assume any future increase in the charge to residents for the garden waste
service. This is something that members will need to consider as an option in the future to cover
future inflationary cost increases of the service. Future increase in this charge will have a
beneficial impact on the overall financial analysis of the options below.
Indirect charges for example depot costs, support services and management costs are not
included as this service will not impact on the current budgeted costs.

Table 1 Financial outcomes of the Garden Waste Collection Trial
Revenue Impact

2016/17
2017/18








Capital
Cost

Average
Users

Running
Costs

£000

No.

£000

78
78

3,085
3,404

Contribution
To Reserves
£000

Income

Net

£000

£000

-

(210)
(176)

139
132

(71)
(44)
(115)

Capital costs include alterations to existing vehicle and purchase of bins.
Income charged at £49 per household plus £30 per additional bin.
2016/17 costs and income includes one-off delivery charges (£15).
2017/18 based on forecast figures in terms of income and expenditure.
No contribution to reserves for vehicle purchase programme as pilot scheme.
Scheme demonstrates initial return on capital investment in less than 2 years.
As at 31st March approximately 324 users have a second bin.

Table 2: Formalise garden waste collection service (without extension)

Page 41

Revenue Impact

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
Total after 7
years

Capital
Cost

Average
Users

Running
Costs

£000

No.

£000

165
-

3,404
3,404
3,404
3,404
3,404
3,404
3,404

Contribution
to Reserves
£000

Income

Net

£000

£000

26
26
26
26
26
26
26

(177)
(177)
(177)
(177)
(177)
(177)
(177)

133
135
136
137
139
140
142

(18)
(16)
(15)
(14)
(12)
(11)
(9)
(95)

 2018/19 running costs and income all at current rates.
 Running costs increased by 1% each year
 Contribution to reserves based on 7 year vehicle life and 15 year bin life for replacement
programme.
 Capital costs relates to a new vehicle replacement at current price at end of current life (2014
vehicle).

Table 3 Option 2: Formalise garden waste collection service and extend to meet current demand in
collection area with assumed growth to 2020/21
Revenue Impact

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
Total after 7
years

Capital
Cost

Average
Users

Running
Costs

£000

No.

£000

240
165

4,754
5,754
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800

Contribution
to reserves
£000

Income

Net

£000

£000

52
52
52
52
52
52
52

(265)
(310)
(364)
(348)
(348)
(348)
(348)

303
306
272
275
277
280
283

90
48
(40)
(21)
(19)
(16)
(13)
29

 2018/19 income forecast includes one-off delivery charge for additional bins.
 2018/19 income projections based on current users plus 1,350 new subscriptions,.(those on the
current waiting list in the target area)
 2nd bins are included but the assumption is that this will be at 50% of the levels being achieved
from the current service users
 2019/20 income projections based on an additional 1000 users on the extended service.
 2020/21 income projections based vehicles at 100% capacity.
 2018/19 and 2019/20 costs include initial marketing to bring service to capacity as quickly as
possible. This will be reviewed each year.

Page 42

 Capital costs will need to be made available 10 weeks prior to the start of the new scheme for
procurement purposes.
 The above table shows that the scheme income starts to cover its costs in 2020/21, though
breakeven is not achieved on the initial outlay over the 7 years of the scheme.
 Initial revenue costs of the service (estimated at £90k) will ultimately depend upon the take up
of the service and the value spent on marketing the scheme. It is recommended that these initial
costs are funded from the Investment and Growth Reserve.

Table 5: Sensitivity Analysis
In order to evaluate the impact the table below compares Option 2 above to two other scenarios
1.
2.
3.

Option 1 Best case scenario – this assumes that the service delivers a second round with 100% capacity
in 2018/19 – scheme covers cost from the outset
Option 2 – as detailed in table 3 above – 100% capacity reached in 2020/21
Option 3 – Only 500 new subscribers in 2018/19 and 100% capacity not reached until 2021/22
1. Best Case Scenario
(6,800 subscriptions in
2018/19)
Capital
Requirement

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

240
165

Total over
7 years

Net
Revenue

(44)
(27)
(24)
(21)
(19)
(16)
(13)

2. Mid-Point Scenario
(as detailed in Table 3
above)
Capital
Requirement

Net
Revenue

240
165

(164)

90
48
(40)
(21)
(19)
(16)
(13)
29

3. Worst Case Scenario
(500 additional
subscriptions in
2018/19)
Capital
Net
Requirement Revenue

240
165

146
54
6
(35)
(19)
(16)
(13)
123

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

In the last 10 years’ time pressures have increased on households. In addition the reduction in the
opening hours of the one Household Waste and Recycling Centre in South Holland has caused
issues with long queues during the growing season at the site at weekends. Increasing the capacity of
the garden waste collection scheme would give more households the choice of how they wish to
dispose of their garden waste.

5.9

Reputation

5.9.1

Formalising the current Garden Waste Collection scheme and extending to additional properties will
enhance the reputation of the Council by meeting more of the wants and needs of customers. This
includes a reliance and reduction in other forms of garden waste disposal such as the ‘purple sack
scheme’.

Page 43

5.10

Risk Management

5.10.1

The key risk to the success of the service is to ensure subscriber numbers increase as predicted
should Option 2 Expansion of the scheme be approved. In order to mitigate this risk, a 6 month
marketing and sales role will be assumed. Marketing will use the current customer base (areas of
high use), current waiting list data, targeted door knocking and through a range of communications
materials.

5.11

Safeguarding

5.11.1

There are no safeguarding concerns in respect to this report.

5.12

Staffing

5.12.1

All staffing requirements have been included in the revenue costs of the service. The existing staff
within Environmental Services will provide support to the project with the vacant operatives sourced
through a local agency.

5.13

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1

All key stakeholders have been engaged with during the trial period and discussions in seeking a way
forward.

5.13.2

Should the recommendations be approved all current customers will be informed that the Garden
Waste service has been formalised.

5.13.3

With approval to extend, Officers in Environmental Services will commence preparations for
extension to launch April 2018.

5.14

Moving Forward Programme

5.14.1

The Garden Waste Collection trial has demonstrated the success of the Moving Forward Programme
with funds released from this budget to enable the scheme.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

Whilst the Garden Waste Collection Scheme will continue to be a targeted service, each collection
day will cover a different village or town within South Holland therefore all wards and the majority of
communities will be affected.

7.0

ACRONYMS
BMW – Biodegradable Municipal Waste
EfW - Energy from Waste
WCA – Waste Collection Authority

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:

The Business Case for a proposed pilot Kerbside Garden Waste
Collection Scheme – Committee report November 2015

Emily Spicer
01775 764884

Page 44

Email:

Emily.spicer@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

No
No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendix A: Revenue costs for Garden Waste Collection Trial

Employees Direct
Employees Direct
Employees Direct
Employees Direct
Employees Direct
Transport Costs
Transport
Transport
Transport
Transport
Supplies & Services
Supplies & Services
Supplies & Services
Supplies & Services

Gross Pay
Overtime
Employer's NI Contributions
Employer's Retirement Benefit Cost
Agency Staff
Fuel & Oil
Road Tax
Tyres
Maintenance
Vehicle Hire
Furniture and Equipment
Materials and Consumables
Stationery
Other Communication Costs
Advertising - Events
Supplies & Services Insurance
Support Services
Recharges to/from support services
Total Expenditure
Income
Green Waste Collection

Page 45

2016/17 Forecast
Outturn Outturn
2017/18
41
40
9
0
4
4
12
7
10
13
12
26
1
1
2
2
28
11
0
18
18
0
(1)
2
0
1
0
3
1
0
1
1
0
3
139
132
(210)
(176)
(71)
(44)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio holder for Governance and Customer

To:

Cabinet – 21 November 2017

(Author:

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager)

Subject

Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer Behaviour and Vexatious
Requests

Purpose:

To consider the draft Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent
Complaints and Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests

Recommendation(s):
That the proposed Policy at Appendix A be approved

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council does not currently have a policy or a procedure to deal with unreasonable
customer behaviour and complaints and vexatious requests. Very often an historic
complainer will also make frequent FOI requests as part of the complaint.

1.2

The Policy deals with unreasonable customer behaviour generally, unreasonable customer
complaints relating for example to service issues or standards complaints about elected
members and finally it covers vexatious requests.

1.3

The purpose of the document is to define unreasonable customer behaviour, explain what
we consider to be unreasonably persistent complaints and how we will deal with them, and
define vexatious requests and how we will deal with these.

1.4

Both the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and Information Commissioner
have issued guidance on dealing with matters contained in this Policy and this Policy
incorporates that guidance. There is no statutory duty to respond to complaints but there is
a statutory duty to respond to requests for information under the Freedom of Information
Act 2000 and Environment Information Regulations. However there is also provision to
refuse a request under Section 14(1) Freedom of Information Act 2000 by considering it a
vexatious request.

1.5

A flowchart has been prepared to support the Policy and is attached at Appendix B.

1.6

Only a small handful of complainants would come within this proposed policy. Examples
might include repeated complaints on an issue where the matter has already been through
our internal complaints process and the Ombudsman without any finding of fault; or where
a complainant refuses to provide evidence/information that is reasonably requested, but
continues to send repetitive complaints and chasing emails/letters about that specific issue.

Page 47

1.7

The draft policy was considered by the Policy Development Panel at its meeting on 3
October 2017. The Panel supported the proposed policy subject to a minor amendment to
the wording of section three and the Panel also suggested that any use of the policy be
reported back to the Panel on a quarterly basis.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To approve the draft Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and
Customer Behaviour and Vexatious Requests.

2.2

To approve the draft Policy subject to amendments.

2.3

Not to adopt a policy and procedures. This option is not recommended as such issues will
have to be dealt with in an ad-hoc manner.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman recommends having a policy to
ensure that complaints and customers are dealt with in an open, fair and proportionate way.
Having a policy will help officers to understand clearly what is expected of them, what
options for action are available and who can authorise these actions. It can also be shared
with customers, help manage their expectations, and explain that certain behaviours should
not be tolerated.

3.2

We must always bear in mind our underlying commitment to transparency and openness.
The guidance recommends that a customer should be given an opportunity to moderate
their behaviour and in particular with persistent complaints any actions should be
proportionate to the nature and frequency of the complainant’s current contacts.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The Policy will reduce officer time in dealing with unreasonable customers and vexatious
requests.

4.2

It will give officers the peace of mind that action can be taken to tackle unreasonable
behaviour.

4.3

It will provide clarity and consistency in dealing with such customers/requests for
information.

4.4

Finally, it will assist in defending any complaints made to the Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman and the Information Commissioner.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

None

5.2

Constitutional & Legal

Page 48

5.2.1

The adoption of the Policy is deemed to be best practice and will assist in complying with
statutory requirements. The policy has been drafted to take into account government
guidance.

5.2.2

The Policy does not form part of the Council’s policy framework and is therefore an
executive function.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

None.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

To provide the right services, at the right time, and in the right way.

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as amended by the Police and Justice
Act 2006) provides that “….it shall be the duty of each authority …to exercise its various
functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and
the need to do all it reasonably can to prevent, crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour
adversely affecting the environment, and substance misuse in its area”.

5.5.2

The policy seeks to address and contain behaviour adversely affecting Council services
and/or council officers which have the potential to escalate into criminal behaviour such as
anti-social behaviour or behaviour deemed as “harassment”.

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

The Policy reinforces the Council’s commitment to providing services that are accessible,
inclusive and meet the needs of the community.

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

There are no specific financial implications arising from the Policy. If the Policy is
successfully applied it should reduce officer time in dealing with unreasonable behaviour.

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

None.

5.9

Reputation

5.9.1

The Policy will benefit the Council’s reputation by providing a framework, and transparency,
in how complaints and information requests are dealt with.

5.10

Risk Management

5.10.1 Having a Policy which complies with best practice and the recommendations of the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman/Information Commissioner reduces the risk of
subsequent challenge where we may determine that behaviour is unreasonable or

Page 49

vexatious.

5.11

Safeguarding

5.11.1 None.
5.12

Staffing

5.12.1 None.
5.13

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 None.
5.14

Transformation Programme

5.14.1 None.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

The Policy will be applicable across the whole district.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

FOI – freedom of information

Background papers: None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post
Telephone Number
Email:

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager
01362 656219
sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

No
No

This report refers to a mix of Mandatory and Discretionary Services
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer
Behaviour and Vexatious Requests
Appendix B Flowchart

Page 50

APPENDIX A
POLICY FOR DEALING WITH UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND CUSTOMER
BEHAVIOUR AND VEXATIOUS REQUESTS
1.

Introduction

This policy sets out our approach to the relatively few customers whose actions or behaviour we
consider to be unacceptable. We aim to deal fairly, honestly, consistently and appropriately with all
complainants and requests for information but we retain the right to restrict or change access to our
services where we consider a customer’s actions to be unacceptable. Our aim in doing this is to
ensure that other customers and our staff do not suffer any disadvantage from customers who act in
an unacceptable manner.
This policy is consistent with anyone’s rights under the Data Protection Act 1998, Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations.
2.

Purpose

The purpose of the document is to





Define unreasonable customer behaviour
Explain what we consider to be unreasonable customer behaviour and how we will deal with it
Define vexatious requests
Explain what we consider to be a vexatious request and how we will deal with these.

This policy helps members, staff and partners to understand what options for action are available,
and who can authorise these actions. It also assists staff to manage the expectations and behaviour
of complainants while their complaint is addressed and when we can refuse a request for information.
The objectives of the policy are to:








Ensure that the objectives and requirements of this Policy are understood
Promote problem solving and avoid apportioning blame. The emphasis should be on finding a
solution
Satisfy those who complain or comment that they have been dealt with promptly, fairly, openly
and honestly
Resolve complaints quickly and as close to the point of service delivery as acceptable and
appropriate
Protect members, staff and partners from abusive and unacceptable behaviour from
customers
Protect members, staff and partners from unreasonable, aggressive or violent behaviour by
customers
Ensure staff and customers understand how we can deal with vexatious requests for
information

This policy should be read in conjunction with any other relevant Council policies relating to exclusion
of services and employee health and safety. This policy applies to all forms of communication,
including social media.

Page 51

1

The Council welcomes feedback from service users and will always try to resolve any complaint or
request for information as quickly as possible and therefore this policy should only be applied where
absolutely necessary.
With each complaint we must consider whether it is persistent, unreasonably persistent or a new
complaint. With each request for information we must consider whether it is manifestly unjustified,
inappropriate or improper use of formal procedure.
This policy covers behaviour associated with customer complaints, complaints about the standards of
our elected members, requests for information and general customer contact.
We need to differentiate between those customers whose concerns relate to a series of service
failures and those customers whose behaviour is unreasonable.
Customers can be frustrated and aggrieved and it is therefore important to consider the substance of
the complaint. However, sometimes customers pursuing complaints or other issues treat members,
staff and our partners in a way that is unacceptable.
Whilst some complaints may relate to serious and distressing incidents, the Council does not tolerate
abusive, offensive or threatening behaviour and will take steps to protect staff who are subject to
unreasonable behaviour.

Section 1 - UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR

3.

Definition of unreasonable behaviour

Customers may act out of character when under stress and we do not view behaviour as
unacceptable just because a customer is forceful or determined. However, the actions of customers
who are angry, demanding or persistent may result in unreasonable demands on workloads and
behaviour towards staff.
Behaviour can be unreasonable and can become unreasonably persistent. Unreasonable behaviour
may include one or two isolated incidents. Unreasonably persistent behaviour is usually an
accumulation of incidents or behaviour over a longer period.
We differentiate between ‘persistent’ customers and ‘unreasonably persistent’ customers.
Customers making a complaint can be ‘persistent’ where they feel we have not dealt with their
complaint properly and are not prepared to leave the matter there. For example, it is not
unreasonable for a customer to criticise how their complaint is being handled when our published
procedures are not followed.
However, some customers may have justified complaints or requests but may pursue them in
inappropriate ways such as lengthy phone calls, emails expecting immediate responses, detailed
letters or emails every few days. Others may pursue complaints or requests which have no
substance or which have already been considered and dealt with. Their contacts with us may be
amicable but still place very heavy demands on staff.

Page 52

2

These are some of the actions and behaviours of unreasonably persistent customers which the
Council’s departments often find problematic. It is by no means an exhaustive list, but they are
examples that frequently come to our attention:
























Refusing to specify the grounds of a complaint, despite offers of assistance
Refusing to co-operate with the complaints investigation process
Refusing to accept that certain issues are not within the scope of a complaints process
Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible with the adopted
complaints procedure or within good practice
Making unjustified complaints about the staff dealing with the complaints, and seeking to have
them replaced
Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds and/or denying statements
they have made at an earlier stage.
Introducing new information, at a late stage, which the customer expects to be taken into
account and commented on, or raising large numbers of detailed, but unimportant, questions
and insisting they are all fully answered
Covertly recording meetings and conversations
Submitting falsified documents from themselves or others
Bringing complaints designed to cause disruption or annoyance or lacking any serious
purpose or value
Adopting a 'scattergun' approach: pursuing parallel complaints on the same issue with a
variety of organisations.
Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff and members with lengthy
and/or repeated telephone calls, emails to numerous Council officers, or detailed letters every
few days and expecting immediate responses
Causing distress to staff – including use of hostile, abusive or offensive language or an
unreasonable fixation on an individual member of staff
Submitting repeat complaints, with minor additions/variations, and insisting that these make
‘new‘ complaints
Refusing to accept the outcome decision of a complaint – repeatedly arguing the point and
complaining about the decision, with no new evidence
Insisting on pursuing unjustified complaints and/or unrealistic outcomes to legitimate
complaints. Taking actions that are out of proportion to the nature of the complaint, even
when the complaints procedure has been exhausted
Behaviour which has a significant and disproportionate adverse effect on the Council’s
resources and other residents
Inappropriate behaviour towards Council staff investigating or involved in the complaint such
as inappropriate use of language, aggression or violence
Persistently approaching the Council through different routes about the same issue.
Persistently complaining about elected members without grounds for complaint

Care must be taken not to discard new issues which are significantly different from the original
issues, however these should be treated as a separate complaint issue.
4.

Designating behaviour as unreasonable

It is vital that all attempts are made to maintain effective communication and relationships with
customers. Prior to taking action under this policy, the investigating officer should ensure that:




Every reasonable effort has been made to investigate the complaint
Every reasonable effort has been made to communicate with the customer
The customer is not now providing any significant new information that might affect the
Council’s view of the complaint

Page 53

3

a)

Prior warning

When the Council considers that the customer is unreasonably persistent in pursuing complaints or
otherwise is acting unreasonably a risk assessment will be completed in line with health and safety
policies and, if it is concluded that the behaviour is unacceptable/unreasonable, the Service Manager
will write to tell the customer why they find the customer’s behaviour unreasonable and/or
unacceptable and ask them to change the behaviour.
b) Decision to restrict or terminate contact with the Council
If unreasonable behaviour continues, the Place Manager will review the case
When making decisions on how to manage the unreasonably persistent customer or unreasonable
behaviour of a complainant, all relevant factors should be taken into account to ensure that action
taken is appropriate and proportionate to the nature and frequency of the customer’s contacts with
the authority at that time.
Due consideration should be given to the customer’s health, including any related illnesses or
disabilities that may be impacting on behaviour (for example, dementia, learning disability, mental
illnesses etc).
If the customer has not responded appropriately to the prior warning letter a decision may be made to
restrict contact with the Council. The customer will be notified in writing (or alternative formats
appropriate to the individual) why it is believed their behaviour falls into the category of unreasonably
persistent and/or unreasonable behaviour.
The customer will be notified what action will be taken and the duration of that action, as well as what
the customer can do to have the decision reviewed.
The following is a list of possible options for managing a customer’s involvement with the Council
from which one or more might be chosen and applied, if warranted. Any action taken should be
appropriate and proportionate. It is not an exhaustive list and often the specific circumstances of the
individual case will be relevant in deciding what might be appropriate action:










Placing limits on the number and duration of contacts with staff per week or month
Offering a restricted timeslot for necessary calls
Limiting the customer to one medium of contact (telephone, letter, email etc)
Requiring the customer to communicate only with one named member of staff
Requiring any personal contact to take place in the presence of a witness and in a suitable
location
Refuse to register further complaints about the same matter
Where a customer’s behaviour is unreasonable and threatens the safety and/or welfare of
members, staff, or our partners the Council may decide to terminate contact with the
customer
Other action may be taken, for example reporting the matter to the police or taking legal
action. Where such action is necessary the Council need not give prior warning

Where a decision on the complaint has been made, the customer can be informed that future
correspondence will be read and placed on the file but not acknowledged, unless it contains material
new information. A designated officer who will read future correspondence should be identified.

Page 54

4

Where following restriction of access being implemented a customer continues to behave in a way
that is unacceptable or where the behaviour is so extreme that it threatens the immediate safety and
welfare of members, staff or our partners, the Council may:
1.
2.
3.
4.

c)

Terminate contact
Temporarily or permanently restrict/not allow access to the Council offices
Report the matter to the police
Take legal action
Reviewing the decision to restrict contact
When imposing a restriction on access there will be a specified review date, usually 6 months
from the initial decision. The review will be carried out by an Executive Manager or a Place
Manager. Restrictions should be lifted and the relationship returned to normal unless there are
good grounds to extend the restrictions.

The customer will be informed of the outcome of the review. If the restrictions are to continue, the
customer should be given the reasons and told when the restrictions will next be reviewed.
d)

Referral to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Relationships between organisations and customers sometimes break down badly when complaints
are under investigation and there is little prospect of achieving a satisfactory outcome. In such
circumstances there may be nothing to gain from following through all stages of the Council’s
Complaints procedure. In these circumstances, the Ombudsman may, exceptionally, be prepared to
consider complaints before complaints procedures have been exhausted – if the request is made by
both sides to the dispute.
A customer who has been treated as behaving unreasonably may make a complaint to the
Ombudsman about it. The Ombudsman is unlikely to be critical of the Council’s action if it can show
that it acted proportionately, reasonably and in accordance with its adopted policy.
e)

Appeals against decisions

Customers must be informed in writing when the Council wishes to apply this policy and given
information on how to appeal the decision.
The appeal will be heard by an Executive Manager Place Manager who has not previously been
involved with the case.
The Executive/Place Manager will write to the customer with their decision which will be final.
A customer who is dealt with under this policy will be informed of their right to contact the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman if they feel the Council has not acted correctly in the
administration of the complaint.
f)

New complaints

New complaints from customers who have been subject to this policy will be dealt with on their
merits. It is recognised that any new complaint may represent a genuine service failure and therefore
needs to be reviewed objectively regardless of who is bringing the complaints.

Page 55

5

Once the complaint has been considered, a risk assessment will also be carried out based on past
and current knowledge of the customer’s behaviour and the likelihood of re-occurrence of any
unacceptable behaviour.
Any decision not to pursue a new complaint must be clearly recorded on the complaints database.
g)

Recording actions and contacts with the customer

Any decision to apply this policy must be notified to the Statutory Information Officer and recorded on
the Council’s complaints database. A report on the number of customers who are the subject of
action under this policy will be reported to one or both of the Council’s Scrutiny Panels on a quarterly
basis.
The Statutory Information Officer will keep adequate records to show:







5.

When a decision is taken not to apply the policy when a member, member of staff or partner
asks for this to be done. The relevant individual will be informed of the decision
When a decision is taken to make an exception to the policy
When a decision is taken not to put a further complaint from such a customer through the
complaints procedure for any reason
When a decision is taken not to respond to further correspondence, the Executive Manager or
Service Manager will make sure that any further letters, faxes or emails from the customer are
checked to ensure that any significant new information is picked up and addressed
Any future contacts with the customer must be recorded
Confidentiality

Complaints made to the Council will be treated in confidence.
The Executive Manager or Place Manager will arrange that the details of unreasonably persistent
complainants and/ or unreasonable customer behaviour is only passed to those Council staff,
members and partner organisations who need to know in order to implement the policy or to protect
staff safety. The customer’s details will also be recorded on the Cautionary Contact List.
Confidentiality cannot, however, be guaranteed where a vulnerable person is considered to be at risk
and safeguarding procedures apply. In these circumstances, the Council may have to share the
information with other departments within the Council or other external agencies.
Customers who make their complaints public in the media may forfeit their right to anonymity and the
right to confidentiality.

Section 2 – VEXATIOUS REQUESTS

6.

Definition of Vexatious Behaviour

A vexatious request is: ‘a request that is likely to cause distress, disruption, and irritation without any
proper or justified cause’.

Page 56

6

A vexatious request may include one or two individual requests for information, or may form part of a
wider pattern of vexatious behaviour. For example, if there is a wider dispute or it is the latest in a
lengthy series of overlapping requests.
Examples of vexatious requests are:













a)

Abusive or aggressive language used by the requester
Excessive burden is placed on us in dealing with the request
Targeted correspondence towards one individual against whom they have some personal
enmity
Unreasonable persistent requests relating to matters which have already been dealt with
The request makes completely unsubstantiated accusations against the authority or specific
individuals
The requester takes an unreasonably entrenched position, rejecting attempts to assist and
advice out of hand and shows no willingness to engage with us.
The requester makes frequent or overlapping requests
The requester’s intention and purpose is to deliberately to cause annoyance
The requester has adopted a “scattergun” approach
The request relates to a trivial matter and it is not proportionate to deal with the request.
The requester is abusing their rights of access to information by abusing the legislation to
vent anger or harass and annoy members, staff or partners
The information requested affects the individual and has already been resolved by us or by
independent investigation
The request is made for the sole purpose of the amusement of the requester.
Designation of vexatious and decision to refuse to provide requested information

In some cases it will be obvious to the Council that a request is vexatious, for instance the tone or
content of the request is so objectionable that it would be unreasonable to expect the Council to
tolerate it. In these circumstances we will consider making a decision that we will refuse the request
under Section 14(1) Freedom of Information Act 2000 (or under the Environmental Information
Regulations where relevant).
In other cases it will not be so obvious then we will take into account if the request is likely to cause a
disproportionate or unjustified level of disruption, irritation or distress. To assess this we will
objectively judge the evidence of the impact on us and weigh this against any evidence about the
purpose and value of the request.
However, we will not automatically refuse a request simply because it is made in the context of a
dispute or if it forms part of a series of requests.
We will consider each request for information on its own merits and we will not automatically refuse a
request because the individual may have caused problems in the past. We will ensure that we
consider whether the request (and not the requester) is vexatious
We will consider whether or not a more conciliatory approach will help before issuing a refusal notice.
Where the request is considered to be vexatious we may make the decision not to provide the
information. We will issue a refusal notice to the requester.

Page 57

7

The decision to classify a request as vexatious and to refuse the request will be taken by the
Executive Manager or Place Manager in consultation with the relevant Service Manager.
A refusal notice setting out why the Council is refusing the request will be issued by the Statutory
Information Officer, unless we have already given the requester a refusal notice for a previous
vexatious request, and it would be unreasonable to issue another one.
b)

Application for Review

A Requester may request a review of the decision to classify a request as vexatious and to issue a
refusal notice. Such review will be carried out by an Executive Manager or Place Manager who has
not previously been involved in the matter.
A requester who has been dealt with under this policy will be informed of their right to contact the
Information Commissioner if they feel the Council has not acted correctly in dealing with their
request.
c)

Recording Actions

Any decisions to apply this policy to the request must be notified to the Statutory Information Officer
and recorded on the Council’s information requests data base. A report on the number of customers
who are the subject of action under this policy will be reported to one or both of the Council’s Scrutiny
Panels on a quarterly basis.
7.

Responsibility for the procedures

Overall responsibility for the Policy for Dealing with UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS
AND CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR AND VEXATIOUS REQUESTS will lie with the Statutory
Information Group.
The administration of the Policy for Dealing with Unreasonable Customer Behaviour and Vexatious
Requests lies with the Statutory Information Officer.

Page 58

8

APPENDIX B
UNREASONABLY PERSISTENT COMPLAINTS AND CUSTOMER BEHAVIOUR AND
VEXATIOUS REQUESTS POLICY

Sent by service manager
PRIOR WARNING LETTER

Explains unacceptable
behaviour
Request to modify behaviour

Behaviour Continues

REVIEW BY PLACE
MANAGER

WRITE TO
CUSTOMERACTION TO BE
TAKEN

Explain why reasonable and
what action to be taken

Consider what Action is
appropriate and proportionate

NO ACTION

Confirm duration of action

What

REVIEW ORIGINAL
DECISION TO TAKE ACTION
AFTER SPECIFIED PERIOD
OF TIME – by Executive or
Place Manager

APPEAL BY CUSTOMER

DISCONTINUE
ACTION

CONTINUE WITH ACTION

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Colin Johnson, Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer

To:

Cabinet 21 November 2017

(Author:

Mark Stinson, Executive Manager - Governance)

Subject:

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy Update

Purpose:

To ensure that the Council's Policy and Procedures are updated in light of
recommendations from the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner

Recommendation(s):
1)

That the Executive Manager – Governance be instructed to update the RIPA Policy and
Procedures to reflect the recommendations of the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner
(OSC)

2)

That the Executive Manager – Governance be instructed to report annually to members on
the number of RIPA authorisations and on the fitness of the Policy and Procedures.

3)

That, in between annual reports, any activity be reported to the Portfolio Holder for
Governance and Customer.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

This Council, along with all other district councils, has certain limited powers to conduct
covert surveillance (which may be in various forms – such as directed CCTV or use of a
covert human intelligence source).

1.2

The Office of the Surveillance Commissioner (OSC) conducts an inspection of our use of
these powers, together with a review of our policies and procedures, every three years.
Normally this is by way of a physical visit and interviews with key officers. Such
inspections usually result in the need to update elements of our RIPA Policy and
Procedures (which have been in place for many years).

1.3

An inspection was conducted in July 2017. The OSC has discretion to conduct a ‘desktop’
assessment and if satisfied with the information provided may choose not to conduct a
physical inspection. The Executive Manager – Governance completed an electronic
submission and supplied various types of documentary evidence. Several months prior to
the inspection, a legal assessment of the robustness of the current policy and procedures
was undertaken and a small number of necessary changes were identified.

1.4

The OSC was satisfied with our submission, and endorsed the work that had been
undertaken to identify required policy and procedure changes. In addition to a number of
routine updates (such as changes to post titles, changes to some terminology, etc.) the
more significant changes that we had identified comprised:



inserting details as to the maximum duration of an authorisation for covert
human intelligence and updating the process for making an application.
providing more guidance on who may be classed as a covert human intelligence
source

Page 61








reflecting the now more limited grounds on which an authorisation may be
granted.
providing additional practical guidance on the role of individuals in the process,
and the maintenance of records
implementing a mechanism for reporting to members regularly on use of the
powers and on the fitness of the existing policy.
adding the need to have regard to guidance issued by the Surveillance Camera
Commissioner.
adding guidance on internet investigations and in particular the use of social
networking sites.
the need for more regular training for those who may seek or authorise covert
surveillance.

1.5

The OSC made only one additional recommendation that had not been identified
proactively (this related to who should attend court should a RIPA application be made).

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To approve the recommendations.

2.2

To leave the Policy and Procedures unchanged. In view of the fact that all of the proposed
amendments have been approved or proposed by the OSC this option is not
recommended.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To ensure that the Council's Policy and Procedures are fit for purpose and compliant with
current legal requirements and guidance.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

On updating the Policy and Procedures in accordance with the OSC recommendations,
the Council can be confident that any authorisations that may need to be granted in the
future will be done so following a robust process which will minimise the potential for
challenge.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding;
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other.
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitution & Legal

5.1.1

Our statutory powers are set out in the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and
associated legislation, regulations and guidance.

5.1.2

The RIPA policy does not form part of the Policy Framework and is therefore an executive
function.

Page 62

5.2

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.2.1

Robust policies and procedures, that accord with legal requirements and guidance, help to
ensure that any action taken under those policies and procedures are fair and are
compliant with equality and diversity obligations as well as human rights.

5.3

Safeguarding

5.3.1

The Policy and Procedures cater for different circumstances, such as including much
more restrictive requirements where a potential covert human surveillance source may be
a juvenile.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

The Policy and Procedures apply across the whole district.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

OSC – Office of the Surveillance Commissioner.
RIPA - Regulation of Investigatory Power Act.

Background papers:-

RIPA Policy and Procedures 2014
OSC Report – July 2017

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Mark Stinson, Executive Manager - Governance
07899 061277
mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder Public Protection and Executive Manager for People and
Public Protection

To:

Cabinet: Tuesday 21 November 2017

Author:

Nick Kendrick, Health and Safety Advisor

Subject

Corporate H & S Policy 2017

Purpose:

To propose a revised Health and Safety Policy and to recommend its formal
adoption and implementation

Recommendation(s):
1) That Cabinet agree that the Policy should be approved and adopted.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 imposes duties on South Holland Council, as
an employer. These include:
1.
2.
3.

1.2

1.3

Adoption and review of a written Health and Safety Policy Statement
Ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare
at work of its employees
Ensuring, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health and safety of others
visiting South Holland DC’s premises or using its services

The existing Health and Safety Policy has been in force since 2015 and is now due for
review. This revised policy has been amended to take account of the changes in the
Corporate Structure. The Policy is still applicable to both Council’s and provides
commonality. It has also been reviewed to ensure it remains up to date, is effective and
relevant.
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for implementation of the Policy and will do
any amendments in conjunction with the leader of the Council.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Agree the adoption of the revised Health and Safety Policy

2.2

Do nothing

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To ensure South Holland’s is in compliance with its statutory duties.

Page 65

3.2

To protect the health and safety and welfare of employees and the health and safety of
visitors to South Holland’s premises or where services are provided by the Council.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure compliance with the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and assist with
consistent application of the policy across both Councils.

4.2

Better and more effective standards of Health and Safety Management. This will lead to
better health and safety of the workplace. Less sickness, better morale and productivity.

4.3

If the council should face injury/compensation claims or legal enforcement action then the
existence of an up to date Health and Safety Policy (which lays out the Council’s Health
and Safety Management arrangements) is likely to substantially reduce the success of such
claims.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2

Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1

It is a requirement of the Health and safety at Work etc Act 1974 that employers with five or
more employees produce and revise a written health and safety policy.
The failure to have a Health and Safety Policy Statement is an offence and the Council
could be liable for prosecution and also civil claims.

5.2.2

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

It is in the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. However the
management of contractors is captured by Health and Safety Law and the revised policy
will assist this process.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

This proposal supports the following corporate priorities:



Having Pride in South Holland
To develop stronger communities (by protecting and improving Health and
Wellbeing).

Page 66

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

It is the opinion of the Report that there are no implications

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

Equal opportunities. South Holland has a duty to protect the health and safety of all staff
and visitor regardless of race, creed, any disability etc.

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

There are no direct financial implications of approving the policy

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

This policy is fundamental in protecting the health and wellbeing of employees, and the
protection of any other persons who could be affected by the Council’s undertakings.

5.9

Reputation

5.9.1

Compliance with Health and Safety legislation will safeguard the Council’s reputation.

5.10

Risk Management

5.10.1 The proposed policy is fundamental in laying down the framework for managing
occupational health and safety at work and reducing risk levels for employees and work
activities.
5.11

Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
5.12

Staffing

5.12.1 There are no staffing implications by approving the policy. All staff will receive suitable and
relevant training on their role and duties in ensuring the implementation of this policy.
5.13

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.13.1 No further consultation is required. The Policy has already been to the relevant Strategic
Health and Safety Groups and the relevant parties and stakeholders. At the present time
Unison have no comments to make. EMT requested the policy be slightly re-worked to
allow changes to be made more easily, with the introduction of Appendices and the
introduction of a procedure on Terrorism has now been included. The requirements to
adhere to the Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 have also been
included within the policy.

Page 67

5.14

Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

No acronyms used.

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Phil Adams, Executive Manager for People and Public Protection
01775 764657
phillip.adams@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Revised Health and Safety Policy

Page 68

APPENDIX A

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Health & Safety Policy
Sept 2017

Page 69

Document Control and History
Version Control
Issue No. Author
1
NK

Issue Date
Oct 2012

2
3
4
5

Oct 2014
Dec 2014
April 2017
June 2017

NK/JH
PA
PA
NK

Reasons for Issue
Revision of previous policy
document
Revision of policy document
Revision of policy document
Revision of policy document
Revision of policy document

South Holland
Issue No.
5
5
5
5
5

Approval Process
Joint Strategic Corporate Health &
Safety Group
Corporate H & S Group
EMT
PDP
Cabinet

Revision Schedule
Issue No. Cycle
1
Every 2 yrs
2
Every 3 yrs

Job Title
H & S Team
H & S Team

Added to Policy Register
Yes/No
Policy Officer Signature
and Date

Date
17/05/2017
13/07/2017
31/07/2017
03/10/2017
21/11/2017

Next Due
March 2017
Sept 2020

Authors Signature and Date

Page 70

Page 2 of 21

Contents
Section 1

Policy Statement

1.1 Scope – Policy Aim
1.2 Policy Consultation and Consideration
1.3 General Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement

Section 2

5

Management Control and Organisation

2.1 Individual Responsibilities

8

2.2 Specific Responsibilities
2.2.1 Full Council
2.2.2 Chief Executive
9
2.2.3 Executive Management Team (EMT)
2.2.4 Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety 10
2.2.5 Section 151 Officer
2.2.6 Shared Executive Director Place
2.2.7 All other Shared Managers
2.2.8 Managers (including Team Leaders and Supervisors)
2.2.9 Health and Safety Team
2.2.10 Fire Marshalls
2.2.11 First Aiders
2.2.12 Each Employee
2.2.13 Occupational Health
2.2.14 Non-Council Employees’ Responsibilities
 Contractors or other such persons
 Manufacturers and Suppliers
2.2.15 Trade Union Representatives
2.2.16 Joint Strategic Corporate H&S Group
2.2.17 Health and Safety Group

Section 3

11
12
13
14
15

16

Implementation - Arrangements for Health and
Safety

3.1 General
3.2 Communication, co-operation and consultation
3.3 Co-operation with Regulatory Authorities
3.4 Information, instruction and training
3.4.1 General
3.4.2 Induction
3.4.3 Training needs identification
3.4.4 Previous training
3.4.5 Ongoing training and development
3.4.6 Delivery of training
3.4.7 Funding of essential health and safety training
3.4.8 Training records
3.5 Special Arrangements

Page 71

18
19

20

Page 3 of 21

Section 4

Monitoring and review of the general policy
statement

4.1 Monitoring of the policy
4.2 Review

21
21

Related Policies and Strategies

21

Page 72

Page 4 of 21

Section 1

Policy Statement

1.1 Scope – Policy Aim
The aim of this Policy is to assist the Council in providing a safe and healthy workplace
and working environment for all its employees, and to protect all other persons who may
be affected by their work activity.
The Policy provides the framework by which the management of health and safety within
the Council will be carried out, including the necessary arrangements and organisation.
Good communication and competence at all levels throughout the organisations will be
essential to the success of the Policy.

1.2 Policy Consultation and Consideration
This policy was taken through the Council’s Joint H & S Steering Group & Health and Safety
Committee which exist to ensure effective communication, monitoring of performance and
consultation in matters involving the health, safety and welfare of all those affected by the work of
the District Council.

1.3 General Health, Safety and Welfare Policy Statement
The Council, as a corporate body and employer, is committed to meeting its legal
responsibilities to safeguard the health, safety and welfare of their employees, and nonemployees, who may be affected by the Council’s work activities.
We consider health and safety to be an integral part of what we do and will pursue
continual improvement in performance through the setting of objectives and targets.
To enable the Council to carry out their responsibilities it will, so far as is reasonably
practicable, take steps to:










comply with and where possible exceed statutory requirements;
ensure a sensible approach to risk management, giving focus and attention to the
assessment and control of significant risks that arise as a result of our activities;
provide a safe and healthy working environment (which includes access, egress and
adequate welfare facilities);
ensure safe working methods and provide safe, suitable and sufficient equipment;
develop and maintain a positive Health and Safety culture with an emphasis on
improvement, through communication and consultation with our employees and their
trade union representatives;
work with our partner organisations to ensure consistent health and safety standards
are maintained;
ensure that only competent contractors and sub-contractors are engaged and are
regularly controlled and monitored;
prevent or reduce the number of accidents and work related ill health;
to provide suitable and sufficient information, instruction, training and supervision to
enable all employees to avoid hazards and contribute positively to their own health
and safety at work;

Page 73

Page 5 of 21





ensure adequate resources are made available to fulfil the Council’s health and
safety responsibilities;
ensure adequate procedures are in place for contractors and others where we have a
duty of care are fully compliant with this policy and the health and safety legislation;
ensure that arrangements detailed within the health and safety management system
are monitored and reviewed at appropriate intervals to ensure it remains effective.

The Council will co-operate fully in the appointment of safety representatives by
recognised trade unions and will comply with the requirements of the Safety
Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977, Approved Code of Practice
and Guidance. The Council will consult with employees safety representatives directly and
via the Health and Safety Group.
The main responsibility for health and safety lies with the Chief Executive, the leader of the
Council and the Executive Management team, but in order for this policy to be successful,
it is the personal responsibility of each employee, elected member, contractor, volunteer
and agency staff member to:




take reasonable care in carrying out their activities to minimise the risk to their own
health, safety and welfare and that of their colleagues or others who may be affected
by their actions;
co-operate with management and colleagues in the carrying out of their duties to
establish safe systems of work;
bring to the attention of their line manager any hazards, dangerous practices,
accidents or incidents of which they become aware.

The Chief Executive, Leader of the Council, Executive Management team and Shared
Managers support this policy and encourage everyone to take a positive and constructive
approach to health and safety and welcome all suggestions and recommendations that
might lead to a safer workplace, improved work practices and a reduction in sickness
absence.
The allocation for safety matters and the particular arrangements that we will make to
implement the policy set out within this document.
The policy will be kept up to date, particularly as the organisation changes in nature and
size, and will be supplemented by further procedures relating to work activities. To ensure
this, our policy and the way it is operated will be reviewed every two years.

Signed
Anna Graves
Chief Executive

Date: ???

Signed

Date: ???

Councillor Gary Porter
Leader of SHDC

Page 74

Page 6 of 21

Signed

Date: ??

Mr Phil Adams
Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety
Unison Health & Safety Representative

Date: ??

UCATT Health & Safety Representative

Date:

Page 75

Page 7 of 21

Section 2
2.1

Management Control and Organisation

Individual Responsibilities
All Council employees have a legal responsibility to meet the statutory requirements
of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974. At all levels of the organisation, our
people will be:




responsible for the safety and wellbeing of themselves, those people they
manage and the people they work for;
aware of their responsibility for health and safety issues and their effects on
people within the activities they control; and
aware of the influence that their action or inaction can have on the
effectiveness of our safety management and performance.

The Chief Executive has ultimate responsibility for ensuring the Council fulfils its
legal responsibility, that the policy’s objectives are achieved and that effective
management is in place to secure its implementation and review as appropriate.
The Chief Executive delegates the overall implementation of the policy to the
Corporate Management team and the authority for the day to day administration of
the policy to shared service managers for all other levels of employees.
The Executive Manager member responsible for Health and Safety has a critical
role in providing strategic direction and support to ensure health and safety risks are
properly managed.
Line managers and supervisors have direct responsibility for activities and
employees under their control. All employees have a legal and moral responsibility
to take reasonable care for the health and safety of themselves and other people
who may be affected by their acts or omissions.

2.2

Specific Responsibilities

2.2.1 Full Council
Are responsible for:
 the conduct of the Council’s undertakings to ensure the health, safety and
welfare, of the Council’s employees, the public and other persons who may
be affected by its activities;
 ensuring there are adequate resources available to meet the requirements of
the Corporate Health and Safety Policy;
 demonstrating their support for sensible health and safety;
 working closely with the Chief Executive to jointly promote a positive culture
around health and safety within the Council and its employees;
 ensuring that adequate resources are allocated when setting budgets to
secure the health and safety of the workforce and others who may be
affected.
Page 76
Page 8 of 21

Portfolio Holders:
 should seek to demonstrate health and safety leadership within their
departments
 they should be aware of the significant risks within their area of responsibility
and the measures in place to reduce risks
 should know who to approach for competent health and safety advice.

2.2.2 Chief Executive
Has overall responsibility for the effective implementation of the Council’s Health
and Safety Policy.
Specifically they are responsible for:


making Full Council aware of significant health and safety issues,
immediately when necessary.

2.2.3 Executive Management Team (EMT)
Are responsible for:
 supporting the Chief Executive in meeting their additional health and safety
responsibilities;
 finding corporate solutions to health and safety issues;
 identifying and allocating resources where this is not either the responsibility
of a specific Executive Management team member, Shared Manager,
Service Manager or where adequate resources are not available within a
nominated budget;
 agreeing the health and safety strategy and the annual Corporate Health and
Safety Plan;
 ensuring decisions and actions recognise the aims of the Corporate Health
and Safety Policy.
 implementing the Corporate Health and Safety Policy within the Directorate
of their control, ensuring that adequate safety management systems are in
place at all levels within their Directorate so as to provide the Council with the
assurance that all parts of the organisation is adequately meeting its legal
obligations;
 establishing structures and strategies to implement policy and integrating
these into service activities;
 making sure to fully consider the resources needed across their directorate
for putting an effective health and safety management system into practice;
 receiving the 6 monthly Health & Safety Report & 3 monthly updates.

Page 77

Page 9 of 21

2.2.4 Executive management team member responsible for Health and Safety
The Executive Management team member responsible for Health and Safety will:
 provide strategic direction for ensuring the effectiveness if the Authority’s
health and safety organisation and arrangements;
 inform, and alert EMT to, health and safety matters of evident concern and
initiatives that have or may have an impact on the health and safety of
employees, contractors or the public;
 liaise on a regular basis with the Health & Safety Team;
 report to the Shared Executive Director of Strategy and Governance, any
significant matters of Health and Safety that have the potential to impact on
the Council and its undertakings;
 champion Health and Safety within the Council;
 assist with securing corporate budget for key H & S initiatives;
 being the sponsor of the 6 monthly review of health and safety performance;
 update EMT on a regular basis actions from the Joint Strategic Corporate
Health & Safety group;
 chair the Joint Strategic H & S Group;
 chair the councils Health & Safety Group.

2.2.5 Section 151 Officer
Will be responsible for:
 identifying and allocating budgetary resources where this is not either the
responsibility of a specific Executive Management team member, Shared
Manager or where adequate resources are not available within a nominated
budget.

2.2.6 Shared Executive Director Place
In addition to 2.2.8 below the shared managers responsible for Council Assets will
have responsibility for all, assets owned or managed by the council where they
have not been passed to the responsibility of a local manager, and will:
 take responsibility for health and safety matters in connection with all aspects of
the maintenance and investment service and to actively promote risk
management in their own services areas;
 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and coordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;
 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;
 take responsibility for maintaining the Council’s Asset Management Plan /
Strategy;
 make sure that full fire risk assessments are carried out on Corporate assets by
suitably qualified persons and that they are maintained and kept current;
 make sure that all fire evacuation drills and tests are carried out in accordance
with the relevant statutory requirements;

Page 78

Page 10 of 21



work with local managers, responsible for assets to make sure that all assets
(land and property) are inspected, maintained and managed in accordance with
statutory legislation and in a manner that protects the health and safety of the
occupants or others that may be affected by them. This will include but is not
limited to maintenance of asbestos, electrical equipment, water services,
lifting equipment and Construction (Design and Management) Regulations
2015 (CDM2015) with the appropriate records managed and kept up to date.

2.2.7 All other Shared Managers
Have responsibility for health and safety within their Services. In particular, they
must ensure that:
 the Council's health and safety policy & procedures are implemented within their
areas of responsibility;
 effective service and place specific procedures are developed and implemented
where necessary, including clearly defined responsibilities for all levels of staff,
systems for assessing and controlling risks and for monitoring health and safety
performance, and signed off through the Joint Strategic Health & Safety Group;
 a positive health and safety culture is actively demonstrated and promoted
within their areas of responsibility including a commitment to continuous
improvement;
 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and coordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;
 corporate health and safety policies and procedures are implemented within
their areas of responsibility and where specific service risks arise service
procedures are developed and implemented that complement corporate
strategic direction, and signed off through the Joint Strategic Health & Safety
Group;
 they and their management team understand and are competent, through
recruitment, training or otherwise, to carry out their duties for health, safety and
welfare;
 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;
 adequate budgetary provision is made to meet the cost of fulfilling the service’s
responsibilities in relation to health, safety and welfare;
 adequate time and resources are given to managers and employees to fulfil their
roles as defined by this policy & procedures;
 there are adequate and effective arrangements in place for consulting all
employees and their representative trade unions within their areas of
responsibility on matters that affect their health and safety;
 they have systems in place for monitoring health and safety within their areas of
responsibility, including setting targets for improvement and reviewing
performance;
 where their Services work with partnership organisations, ensure that suitable
health and safety arrangements are established and monitored in partnership
activities and through the corporate health & safety group.

Page 79

Page 11 of 21

2.2.8 Managers (including Team Leaders and Supervisors)
Managers are responsible for ensuring that the policy & procedures are
implemented in their areas of responsibility. Managers will be responsible for all
employees and activities under their control and will ensure that the requirements of
relevant safety policies and procedures are complied with. In particular, they will,
where appropriate:
 ensure that risk assessments are undertaken by persons competent to do so
and that adequate control measures are taken to minimise the health and safety
risks to their employees and to any other persons who may be affected by work
carried out by these employees; and those risk assessments are maintained on
the corporate Health and Safety systems to allow effective monitoring;
 ensure that safe systems of work are developed and implemented in line with
the Council’s health and safety management system;
 when commissioning work through partners and contractors ensure that they are
selected and managed in accordance with statutory and Council health and
safety requirements;
 include in all tender documents suitable provision for health and safety and coordinate the safety activities of contractors and subcontractors;
 ensure action is taken to resolve any situations that may adversely affect the
health and safety of employees or other persons. They will rectify any problem
within their own resources or see it is raised with their line manager without
delay where they do not have the budgetary or management control to do so;
 ensure effective health and safety monitoring activities are undertaken;
 set a personal example by including health and safety management into daily
management practice and demonstrating safe personal working practices;
 monitor and review health and safety performance through:
o undertaking health and safety inspections of the relevant work area/practices
in accordance with relevant policy
o setting health and safety targets and objectives through appraisals and other
supervisory reviews
 ensure that arrangements are in place to keep themselves and their employees
up to date with health and safety information provided to them by the
organisation;
 hold the budget for repair and maintenance of the Council’s Corporate assets in
their control and is responsible for ensuring that repair or maintenance work
necessary to address health and safety issues are carried out;
 ensure that all employees under their control are given adequate information,
instruction, training and supervision to carry out their duties safely, paying
particular attention to new/inexperienced employees and trainees;
 ensure that all plant, work equipment and personal protective equipment
provided is selected through a risk assessment process, is suitable, properly
maintained and all necessary tests and examinations have been carried out;
 ensure that accidents and incidents (including near misses and violence and
aggression) are properly reported, processed, investigated by competent
persons and the findings acted upon without delay, plus report these to the
Corporate Health & Safety advisor;
 ensure that employees and their trade union representatives are consulted on
matters of health and safety that affect them;

Page 80

Page 12 of 21



ensure information that may assist safety representatives in their role is provided
to them as necessary;
 work with local Managers responsible for assets to ensure premises issues
affecting their employees are adequately managed and communicated;
 attend training provided to them that is relevant to their role;
 ensure that competent health and safety advice is sought where required;
 arranging suitable and sufficient health & safety training as identified, to equip
their team leaders/supervisors and staff with necessary knowledge, information
and competence, plus update the corporate Health & Safety management
system.

2.2.9 Health & Safety Team
The Health & Safety Team will:
 provide professional support, technical and other guidance to the Council, ,
EMT, Shared Managers, Managers and members of staff on matters of health &
safety risk assessments and audits;
 raise awareness of health & safety at work with all employees, members and
partners of the Council;
 prepare reports to the Joint Strategic Corporate H & S Group, Health & Safety
Group and EMT on health and safety performance, making recommendations
for improving performance as necessary. An annual report will be produced
each April for EMT and will include an overview of the policy, the performance of
each service and details of accidents, statistics and inspections carried out that
year;
 draft guidance and develop corporate health and safety procedures in line with
current legislation and best practice;
 interpret new legislation, audits and report findings to health and safety
committee;
 liaise with relevant enforcing bodies e.g. HSE, Fire Authorities;
 maintain corporate accident / incident records;
 review accident and incident data to identify trends and any appropriate
remedial action as necessary;
 actively participate in Health & Safety Action Plans, meetings and the setting of
realistic targets to maintain progress and continued standards of compliance
with relevant statutory provisions;
 delivering or arranging suitable and sufficient health & safety training as
identified , to equip senior managers, team leaders/supervisors and staff with
necessary knowledge, information and competence, plus to maintain the
corporate management system;
 maintain the list of First Aiders and Fire Marshalls, plus ensure that the Council
has sufficient numbers to perform their duties in accordance with national
guidance;
 that all first Aid boxes are sufficiently stocked and maintained.

2.2.10

Fire Marshalls

The Fire Marshalls will take control in the event of a fire or emergency evacuation
and will:
 attend necessary training;

Page 81

Page 13 of 21




2.2.11

in the event of an evacuation ensure their dedicated area is clear;
carry out fire inspection checks as deemed appropriate.

First Aiders

First Aiders will:
 provide first aid treatment in accordance with the first aid at work regulations;
 ensure their first aid box is adequately stocked;
 advise Human Resources or the Health and Safety Team of any changes
that may affect their ability to continue with their duties;
 assist with the completion of accident forms and follow up investigations and
actions as appropriate, for any incident they are involved in.

2.2.12

Each Employee

All Employees have individual responsibility to take reasonable care for the health
and safety of themselves and for those other persons who may be affected by their
acts or omissions. In particular, employees must:













2.2.13

comply with the Council's Health and Safety Policy and procedures at all times
and make themselves familiar with the Health & Safety information on the
Council’s Intranet;
co-operate with their management in complying with relevant health and safety
safe systems of work and procedures;
participate in emergency arrangement training including fire evacuation and
familiarising themselves with emergency arrangements at the premises in which
they carry out their work;
use all work equipment and substances in accordance with the instruction and
training received;
wear, use, store, and maintain personal protective equipment as provided to
them and required by their manager. To notify their line manager when PPE
needs replacing;
not intentionally misuse anything provided in the interests of health, safety and
welfare e.g. fire fighting equipment;
take part in and contribute to health and safety inspections, risk assessments etc
as appropriate;
report all accidents (personal injury and vehicle), ill-health, incidents of violence
and aggression, near misses, hazardous situations, general health and safety
concerns, defective equipment or premises in line with departmental procedures;
attend or take part in training provided relevant to their role;
carryout all mandatory training as requested by the Council health & Safety team
within clear timeframes.
if working on behalf of the Council on premises other than those controlled by
the Council, comply with health and safety arrangements at those premises;
ensure that when driving while at work that they are fit to do so and drive in a
safe and proper manner.

Occupational Health

The Council retains the services of Occupational Health organisations. Their
responsibility extends to providing advice, when requested, on all matters relating to

Page 82

Page 14 of 21

occupational health. It will, when requested, carry out medical assessments as part
of any medical surveillance required by health and safety legislation.

2.2.14

Non-Council Employees’ Responsibilities


Contractors or other such persons

Only competent contractors or other such persons will be permitted to
undertake services for the Council.
The Council needs to ensure that contractors or other such persons they
engage have the skills, knowledge and competency to carry out the service
to the required standards without risks to health and safety. The contractor
selection and monitoring procedure should be followed this requires a health
and safety competency assessment form completed by the contractor (or
other such person) and associated documentation supplied. An assessment
as to the contractor’s competency to carry out work on behalf of the Council
will be made and a record kept. All documents provided by the contractor will
be retained as evidence.
Contractors or other such persons will be required to conform to all relevant
Health and Safety legislation or Council instructions that are applicable and
to ensure that their employees and sub-contractors also conform.
Any health and safety concerns or issues arising from the health and safety
competency assessment or monitoring of contractors or other such persons
will be referred to the Health and Safety Team.
No contractor or other such person shall work for the Council unless the
Control of Contractors procedures have been adhered to.


Manufacturers and Suppliers

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 requires that all plant,
machinery, equipment, appliances and materials are so designed and
constructed so as to be safe and without risks to health.
Manufacturers and suppliers must provide adequate operating and/or
handling instructions and information about any conditions necessary to
ensure that their products will be safe and without risks to health when
properly used. This information must be made available to all relevant
employees.

2.2.15

Trade Union Representatives

The functions available to safety representatives are:


to investigate potential hazards in the workplace (whether or not they are drawn
to their attention by the employees they represent), the causes of accidents and
general complaints by any employee they represent on health, safety or welfare
issues at the workplace and communicate with the appropriate officer. Make

Page 83

Page 15 of 21









2.2.16

observations in writing to the Service Manager and the Health and Safety
Committee;
invited to carry out inspections of the workplace, both on a planned basis and
following substantial changes in working conditions, where new hazard
information has been published by the HSE or where incidents and accidents
have occurred;
to inspect and take copies of any document relevant to health and safety
providing reasonable notice is given to the manager concerned;
to represent employees in consultations with the managers and to receive
information from managers;
to represent the employees they were appointed to represent in consultations
with the inspectors of the Health and Safety Executive and/or any other
enforcing authority and to receive information from inspectors;
to attend meetings of safety committees in the capacity as a Safety
Representative in connection with any of the above functions;
to carry out inspections of the workplace, following notifiable accidents and, if
relevant to the inspection, see certain documents.

Joint Strategic Corporate Health & Safety Group

The Joint Steering Group will be responsible for ensuring effective communication,
monitoring of performance and consultation in matters involving the health, safety
and welfare of all those affected by the work of the District Council. The group will:









2.2.17

report to EMT on a six monthly basis and update them on Policy, procedures,
incidents, action plans and training;
review, monitor and provide a programme of training for staff, members and
contractors;
recommend changes to the Council’s Health & Safety Policy and Procedures
and to ensure compliance;
ensure and advise on the Council’s compliance with Health & Safety legislation
and monitor any changes within this sector;
receive and review reports regarding health and safety accidents and incidents
(near misses);
monitor performance, having regard to underlying trends and review progress on
improving safety performance and safety culture;
consider health & safety issues that may have strategic, business and
reputational implications for the Council’s and recommend appropriate
measures, responses and targets;
carry out annual inspections of Council premises and associated buildings and
receive reports on other assets of the Council

Health and Safety Group

The Health and Safety Group exists to ensure effective communication, monitoring
of performance and consultation in matters involving the health, safety and welfare
of all those affected by the work of the District Council.
The Group will:
 consider and advise on Council policies or procedure for health, safety and
welfare, both statutory and otherwise and monitor and review their effectiveness;

Page 84

Page 16 of 21














consider and approve amendments or additions to the Council’s H & S Policies,
procedures or Safety Guidance;
review forthcoming legislation and assess its implications and where necessary
to recommend the establishment of rules governing any hazardous work activity
or operations;
promote and monitor the adequacy of health and safety training in the Council at
all levels, also the communication and publicity and initiate actions to maintain a
high standard;
consider, and take action as appropriate on, reports from Trade Union health
and safety representatives;
receive detailed reports of investigations into all reportable accidents, dangerous
occurrences and cases of reportable diseases to consider the effectiveness of
any action taken to prevent future similar accidents;
receive statistical data of all other recorded accidents or occurrences and to
consider the effectiveness of any remedial action taken to prevent future similar
incidents;
consider reports of formal audits of Council work places and / or activities and
such other reports may be submitted;
request formal inspections of work places as the Committee think appropriate
and to receive reports of such inspections;
consider reports and factual information provided by inspectors of the HSE
under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, or any other relevant
enforcement authority and to establish and maintain effective links with such
persons;
consider relevant health, safety and welfare matters raised by members of the
Group and Council staff;
consider the activities of Union Safety Representatives as required by the
relevant legislation.

Page 85

Page 17 of 21

Section 3
3.1

Implementation - Arrangements for Health and
Safety

General
The following arrangements supplement the policy but are not intended to be
exhaustive. They are supported with separate, additional procedures / guidance.
Constant observance of this policy, adherence to rules and maintenance of good
practices and procedures / guidance will prevent personal suffering and injury and
in some cases, property and equipment damage.
Performance against these various systems will be monitored by the Health and
Safety Group with the assistance of the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety
Group.
All risk assessments will be reviewed annually in light of safety performance
monitoring results and changes in the work carried out. Amendments will be brought
to the attention of those employees to whom they apply.

3.2

Communication, co-operation and consultation
No safety policy or procedure is likely to be successful unless it actively involves all
employees. It also helps in motivating staff and making them aware of health and
safety issues.
Employees will be consulted on health and safety matters either communicating
directly through line management at team meetings, team briefings, formal training
or directly by Trade Union Safety Representatives.
Safety representatives appointed by the recognised trade unions have an important
role in consulting and communicating with staff on health, safety and welfare related
issues. Therefore it is to be accepted by the Elected Members, the Chief Executive,
EMT, the Shared Managers and team leaders that the Council will provide safety
representatives, with reasonable facilities, assistance, attendance at TUC, union
specific training and any other council delivered training appropriate for the purpose
of carrying out their functions as defined by the Safety Representatives and Safety
Committees Regulations 1977. None of these functions undertaken by Safety
Representatives are imposed upon them by the Council; however, reasonable time
off without loss of earnings will be given whilst undertaking health and safety
functions.

3.3

Co-operation with Regulatory Authorities
Any contact, including correspondence from any regulatory authority, in particular,
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), the Fire Authority and the Environment
Agency must be notified to the Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety Group
by the quickest possible means. The Joint Strategic Corporate Health and Safety
Group will provide those services with appropriate support and advice.

Page 86

Page 18 of 21

3.4

Information, instruction and training

3.4.1 General
All employees regardless of position, length of service or role will be provided with
appropriate health and safety training. Providing all employees with suitable and
sufficient health and safety information, instruction and training is vital to ensuring
that:




daily working activities are carried out safely;
health and safety responsibilities are understood and performed satisfactorily;
individual’s are aware of the hazards present in their day-to-day working
environment.

Information, instruction and training does not always require attendance on formal
training courses. In many instances verbal or written instruction may be sufficient,
for example:





briefings on risk assessments findings including controls identified;
walking a new employee through their office escape route;
job shadowing / observing an experienced member of staff;
providing detailed, step by step instructions (i.e. Safe Working Practice), on how
to perform a particular task.

3.4.2 Induction
All new starters will receive relevant Health & Safety information from their line
manager or supervisor on arrival.
Within their first month they must complete the e-learning module on Health &
Safety Induction.
Within their first three months they must attend the formal Health and Safety
induction. As well as providing necessary information, instruction and training, it also
provides an opportunity from the outset to demonstrate a positive health and safety
culture that each individual is expected to help maintain.

3.4.3 Training needs identification
Training needs will be determined by a number of mechanisms, including
assessment of the individual job role and activities expected to be undertaken, risk
assessment controls, as a mandatory requirement of the job, appraisals, or in some
circumstances as part of professional or self-improvement.

3.4.4 Previous training
Existing competencies such as attendance on accredited training and recognised
courses are reviewed and taken into consideration as part of training needs
analysis, however, where training is required to familiarise an employee with
specific systems of work additional training will be provided.

3.4.5 Ongoing training and development

Page 87

Page 19 of 21

Employees are provided with necessary information, instruction and training
throughout their employment.
Examples of when further training may be required include:









e-learning modules;
where refresher dates are formally specified as is the case for first aid training;
following changes in equipment and / or working practices, an accident and any
introduction of new hazards into the workplace (e.g. machinery, substances etc);
periodic refresher training e.g. where aspects of training may be forgotten, or
skills diminish over time – particularly where the training is not regularly used
e.g. Fire Marshal, Evacuation Chair;
where the line manager or the employee identifies additional training that would
be beneficial e.g. during work reviews, appraisals or after difficulties in carrying
out work safely;
where staff are observed not to be working safely;
where safety roles are not being performed satisfactorily e.g. a premises
manager not ensuring hazards in their workplace are being adequately
managed;
an identified requirement through the appraisal process.

3.4.6 Delivery of training
Formal training may be delivered through the following mechanisms:






the Health & Safety team;
e-learning modules;
shared managers, line managers / team leaders / supervisors;
in-house courses delivered by external training providers;
external courses.

3.4.7 Funding of essential health and safety training
It is recognised that the funding of essential health and safety training and
instruction as is deemed necessary is an essential element of the health and safety
management system. Further advice can be obtained from the Joint Strategic
Corporate Health and Safety Group.

3.4.8 Training records
Training records are to be kept by the Human Resources team and the Health and
Safety team and it is the responsibility of the relevant Line Manager to make sure
that Human Resources are notified of training that has been given.

3.5

Specific Arrangements
The following are covered by specific Policies and/or Procedures which can be
found on the Council’s intranet.


Risk Assessment Procedure

Page 88

Page 20 of 21























Fire Procedure
Manual Handling Procedure
Display Screen Equipment Procedure
Hazardous Substances
Young Persons
New or Expectant Mothers
Accident, near miss and investigation Procedure
Asbestos Management Policy
Control of Legionella in Water Systems Procedure
CDM and Contractor Management Procedure
Driving for work Procedure
Electrical Safety Procedure
Equipment Procedure
First Aid Procedure
Housekeeping Procedure
Lone Workers Procedure
Noise Procedure
Protective Clothing and Equipment Procedure
Smoking (including-Cigarettes) Procedure
Vibration Procedure
Violence at Work Procedure

Section 4
4.1

Monitoring and review of the general policy
statement

Monitoring of the policy
The monitoring of this Policy will be carried out by the Joint Strategic Corporate
Health and Safety Group, actively through health and safety auditing and reactively
by the investigation of incidents and collation of accident, near miss, violent incident
and ill health statistics produced and reported on a regular basis. It is anticipated
that appointed Trade Union Health and Safety Representatives will also assist by
the carrying out of inspections of the workplace.

4.2

Review
This safety policy will be reviewed every 2 years, and when agreed, added to or
modified as necessary within that period.

Section 5

Related Policies and Procedures

Information about related policies and procedures can be found on the Council’s Intranet.

Page 89

Page 21 of 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

To:

Performance Monitoring Panel, 7th November 2017 and Cabinet, 21st
November 2017

Author:

Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject:

Performance Overview Report – Quarter 2 2017/18

Purpose:

To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 July 2017 to
30 September 2017

Recommendation(s):
1)
1.0

To note the content of the report
BACKGROUND
The Quarter 2 2017/18 Performance Report (Appendix A) aims to provide Members and
residents with information about how the Council is delivering its services and how it is
progressing against its Corporate Priorities. The covering report highlights in further detail
some of the indicators within the performance report.
Areas where performance has improved are brought to Members’ attention, as are areas of
concern where performance is below expected levels or is considered to be worsening.

1.1

Key Performance Indicators
Quarter 2 saw performance improve in in comparison to quarter 1. Performance is rated as
‘moderate’ with 11 indicators being green (55%) which indicates good performance. There
are 3 (15%) amber indicators and 6 red indicators (30%); highlighting lower than expected
performance. There are 6 indicators which are classified as data only; this means that they
are monitored without requiring a target.

Page 91

1.2

Complaints Upheld
There has been a decrease of about 25% in the number of stage 1 complaints received in
in this quarter when compared to quarter 2 last year, out of the 32 complaints received only
5 of them were upheld. This shows that as the council is upholding less complaints when
compared to last year and can indicate that the Council is learning the lessons from
previous complaints and making service changes.
Calls abandoned
The abandonment rate of calls has reduced by half from 10.15% to 5.31% since the last
quarter. In terms of figures there were 28,444 calls received last quarter with 2,887
abandoned and 26,442 received this quarter but only 1,404 of those calls were abandoned.
Wait time in seconds
The average wait time in seconds across revenues, benefits and customer contact has
reduced significantly in since the last 2 quarters. Q4 16/17 saw this figure at 107 seconds
with Q1 17/18 at 129 seconds, we are now at 78 seconds overall for Q2 so this is very
positive and demonstrates the work being done by customer contact to improve call
resolution and pick up times.

Page 92

Planning Applications
The performance of the planning team continues to be reported above target with 95.16%
of applications determined within time, this refers to 183 applications.

1.3

Revenues and Benefits
Following on from the performance improvements seen in 2016/17, this has continued with
quarter 2 following similar performance trend as quarter 1 and showing an error rate of
0.16%, the rate remains within target and on track to receive 100% subsidy for 2017/18.
Areas of Concern
The following areas are either not achieving their target or are experiencing a significant
decline in performance:
Staff Turnover
Staff turnover for this quarter is at 10.97% which is the highest figure seen since we started
recording this figure (Q1 15/16). Whilst this figure is high and well above the 2.5%
threshold, we are aware of the service reviews that have taken place within the place
directorate this quarter which makes up over 90% of the 27 leavers in this period.
Cases prevented from homelessness per 1,000 households
This figure has dropped from 2.6 in Q2 16/17 to 1.5 as it currently stands, the housing team
have been focusing on transitional projects as well as preparation work for the
homelessness prevention act. Although this is not a targeted measure we will continue to
monitor this as homelessness prevention is a key area of the council and overall cases
prevented from homelessness has seen a downwards trend over the last 4 quarters.
Housing Voids
Overall most of the housing void times have improved following on from last quarter, this
shows positive effects of the service review and restructure of the teams and processes
surrounding void properties. However there are a few housing PIs such as key to key for
general needs and contractor times for general needs which are both at 33 days and above
the maximum target of 28 days for key to key and 25 for contractor times. The reason for
this is because the changes of the service review, in these areas specifically, is likely to
need more time to bed in and impact on the overall performance. The contractor days and
overall general needs times will reduce if the condition of the properties returned are
improved. This is looking to be done with a more stringent process of tenancy checks, this
will take time to come into force and start to see a positive change.
Business Rate in Year Collection Rate
Business Rate in year collection rates are currently 0.93% behind target. This is the first
year of a new rating list following the 2017 Revaluation. A reduction in collection rates is
anticipated (compared to previous years) over the next few months as the team continues
to rebill those businesses that qualify for the new reliefs (announced by the Government in
the spring budget) which are specifically designed to assist those ratepayers most
adversely affected by the revaluation.
In year collection was also affected due to the Valuation Office Agency notifying the
revenues team of two large, backdated changes to business assessments in the rating list.
Whilst this figure is currently red and needs to be monitored, the revenues department do
anticipate achievement of the end of year target and performance will be in line with
previous year's performance.

Page 93

Feedback from PMP




The committee would like a new performance measure that monitors the occupancy
of the new rental properties at Welland Homes
Analysis was requested of who is in the commercial units and to understand if that
are still meeting their original purpose as start-up units.
A detailed analysis has been requested on reasons behind planning extensions
being agreed.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

2.2

To do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The report is for consideration and is presented in order that members are aware of how
the council is delivering its services and how it is progressing against its corporate
priorities.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental
implications.

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

The report is made within the terms of reference of the Cabinet.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6

Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.

Page 94

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to financial matters.

5.8

Health and Wellbeing

5.8.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications.

5.9

Reputation

5.9.1

Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.10

Risk Management

5.10.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council
interests.
5.11

Safeguarding

5.11.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result
of this report

5.12

Staffing

5.12.1

The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

5.13

Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales

5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report.
5.14

Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report.
5.15

Other

5.15.1

It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

No Wards or Communities are affected

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

None

Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer

Page 95

Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance
Manager
01362 656866
greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post:
Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance
Manager
Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Quarter 2 Performance Report

Page 96

2017/18 Q2 SHDC PMP Report
Generated on: 16 October 2017

Indicator

% of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1

Complaints upheld as a %
of all stage 1 complaints
closed in period

Same Period Last Year

Q2 2016/17

number of complaints

Current Performance

Page 97

This is calculated using the
upheld divided by the total

number of complaints
closed in the period

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
25%

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints

Value

11

26.19%

42

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints

Value

5

15.63%

32

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the

7 complaints received in period with 2 being upheld. This figure has

number of complaints upheld for an SHDC

greatly improved from Q2 of last year where we had nearly 25% more

error

complaints.

1

Indicator

% of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 2

Complaints upheld as a %
of all stage 2 complaints
closed in period

Same Period Last Year

This is calculated using the

Q2 2016/17

number of complaints

Current Performance

upheld divided by the total
number of complaints
closed in the period

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
25%

# complaints upheld

Total # of complaints

Value

1

8

12.5%

# complaints upheld

Total # of complaints

Value

0

2

0%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the

2 complaints received for the quarter, neither of which were upheld,

Page 98

number of complaints upheld for an SHDC

we have seen a great drop in the number of stage 2 complaints

error

received compared to last year.

2

Indicator

% of Calls Abandoned

% of calls that are
abandoned (call
terminated prior to

Same Period Last Year

answering), excluding

Q2 2016/17

those abandoned within 5

Current Performance

seconds.
This is a combined
measure across Customer
Contact, Revenues and
Benefits calls

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
No Target

Calls Abandoned

Calls Received

Value

1,916

27,501

6.97%

Calls Abandoned

Calls Received

Value

1,404

26,442

5.31%

Page 99

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to answer more

In terms of call volume there have only been around 1,000 less calls

calls

this quarter compared to last year’s Q2 data, however it is pleasing
to see that while call volumes remained near enough the same there
has been nearly a 1% drop in abandonment rates which equates for
around 500 less calls abandoned this quarter compared to last, also
when comparing to Q1s performance it is pleasing to note the
abandonment rates have halved.

3

Indicator

Average Wait Time in Seconds

Average time to answer
phone calls in seconds
This is measured across

Same Period Last Year
Value

customer services,

Q2 2016/17

revenues and benefits

Current Performance

calls.

Trend Chart

N/A

N/A

113.22

Value
Q2 2017/18
Current Target
No Target

N/A

N/A

78.56

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower number is better as it indicates less

This Quarter has seen a great improvement on the average wait time

time waiting for a call to be answered

in seconds, there has been a 33% decrease in wait time in seconds

Page 100

compare to last quarter and a 30% decrease when compared to last
year’s Q2.

4

Indicator

% of household waste recycled or composted

% of household waste
which has been recycled

Same Period Last Year

and composted (includes
garden waste) against all

Trend Chart

the household waste

Q2 2016/17

collected

Current Performance

Q2 2017/18
Current Target

Tonnage of recycling

Total Tonnage

and composting

Collected

2648.62

7886.38

33.15%

Value

Tonnage of recycling

Total Tonnage

and composting

Collected

2613.59

7946.68

What does good look like?

Value

33.45%
Latest Note

Page 101

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or

Following a drop in percentage at the end of 16/17 it is pleasing to

compost more waste

note to % of household waste recycled or composted is now at
33.45% for the quarter.

5

Indicator

Missed Waste Collection Rate

Number of missed
collections per 100,000

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year

people
Q2 2016/17

Number of missed

Per 100,000 collection

Value

collections

figure

407

10.185

40.0

Number of missed

Per 100,000 collection

Value

collections

figure

393

10.185

Current Performance

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
33.0

What does good look like?

38.6
Latest Note

A lower number is better as we look to ensure We are seeing positive improvement in the missed waste collection

Page 102

fewer waste collections are missed

rates since Q2 last year, as it stands we are achieving a collection
rate of 99.67% of all bins in the district collected for Q2. The team is
also looking a periodically running reports on the number of times
they have returned to the properties to make a second collection as
opposed to the number of times customer services log a call under
the category of ‘missed collections’.

6

Indicator

Waste sent to 'Energy from Waste' per Household (kg)

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year
Number of Kg’s of residual
waste collected per
household sent to Energy

Q2 2016/17

from Waste

Current Performance

Calculated by 'residual
waste collected' x 1000
then divided by number of
households waste has
been collected from

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
45.0

Numerator

Denominator

Value

5730.84

39,450

48.4

Numerator

Denominator

Value

5867.28

39,450

49.6

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower number is better as we look to reduce The production of an updated Joint Municipal Waste Management
the amount of waste sent for incineration

Strategy for Lincolnshire is underway which will address all matters

Page 103

related to waste management in Lincolnshire. This includes, but is
not restricted to, issues such as reducing the amount of waste
produced, reducing the amount of that waste sent to the energy from
waste plant and increasing the quantity and quality processed for
recycling.

7

Indicator

Commercial Property Occupancy

Occupancy levels of the
council's industrial units

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year

Q2 2016/17

Number of units let

Total number of units

Value

50

50

100%

Number of units let

Total number of units

Value

50

50

100%

Current Performance

Q2 2017/18

Page 104

Current Target
90%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher number is better as we look to rent

Occupancy continues to remain at full capacity which brings in

out as many council owned industrial units as

income for the Council

possible

8

Indicator

Staff turnover %

% of total leavers against
total number of staff

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year

employed in period
(includes involuntary
leavers)

Q2 2016/17

Number of leavers in

Total number of staff

period

in period

Value

5

256

1.95%

Number of leavers in

Total number of staff

Value

period

in period

26

237

Current Performance

Q2 2017/18
Current Target

Page 105

2.5%

10.97%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to retain staff

Whilst this figure is high and well above the target threshold this is
expected due to the ongoing moving forward programme which
includes a number of service reviews, this period has seen the place
directorate review a number of teams.

9

Indicator

Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE

Total number of working
days lost per Full Time
Equivalent.

Same Period Last Year

This is calculated by taking

Q2 2016/17

the number of days lost to

Current Performance

sickness and dividing it by
the number of full time
equivalent staff in the
period

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
2.2.5

Number of days lost

Number of FTE

Value

440.36

233.79

1.91

Number of days lost

Number of FTE

Value

496.38

204.54

2.4

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

Working days lost to sickness overall has improved over the last few

amount of working time lost to sickness

quarters but does remain higher than the figures for last quarter, HR
have now launched a flu voucher scheme which will provide flu
vouchers for staff who want them which will in turn look to reduce

Page 106

Indicator

short term sickness cases.

Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE

Number of working days

lost per Full Time

Same Period Last Year
Number of days lost -

Equivalent for long term
sickness.

Q2 2016/17

the number of days lost to

Current Performance

dividing it by the number

Value

N/A

N/A

N/A

Number of days lost -

Number of FTE

Value

204.54

2.029

long term

of full time equivalent staff
in the period

Number of FTE

long term

This is calculated by taking
long term sickness and

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
No Target

414.91

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

Working days lost to long term sickness remains near enough the

amount of working time lost to sickness

same per FTE as it was last quarter, work is underway to ensure we
have accurate and benchmarked targets.

10

Indicator

Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE

Number of working days
lost per Full Time

Same Period Last Year
Number of days lost -

Equivalent for short term
sickness.

Q2 2016/17

the number of days lost to

Current Performance

dividing it by the number

Value

N/A

N/A

N/A

Number of days lost -

Number of FTE

Value

204.54

0.39

short term

of full time equivalent staff
in the period

Number of FTE

short term

This is calculated by taking
long term sickness and

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target

Page 107

No Target

81.51

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

Working days lost to short term sickness has reduced significantly

amount of working time lost to sickness

since the last quarter from 0.561 to 0.398 per FTE, work is currently
underway to ensure we have accurately benchmarked targets
compared to other local authorities.

11

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures

Total time in days from
keys in to keys out including major works for

Same Period Last Year

all tenures (General Needs

Q2 2016/17

and Sheltered Housing)

Current Performance

This is calculated by total
number of days properties
remain vacant divided by
the number or properties
vacant in the period

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
28 days

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

N/A

N/A

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

1,394

45

27 days

31 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

The indicators demonstrate some variance from the same period in

Page 108

number of days vacant and therefore not

Q2 16/17 but do not show the same swings that were a marked

receiving rent payments

feature of recent times. This is largely down to how resources were
being utilised at the time there was a spike in homelessness cases
and the turnover of emergency accommodation which meant CSU
operatives were directed to work on priority needs.
In seeking improvement in void performance a number of key
structural changes have been made, most notably the creation of an
Available Homes team that has brought all the elements of void
management and allocations within one team under a responsible
manager and created a distinct client/contractor partnership with the
Operational Housing Repairs Team (previously CSU).

12

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Keys In to Keys Back from Contractor) - All

Total time in days from
keys in from tenant to

Same Period Last Year
Total # days Total #

works completed by the
contractor and the
property is ready to be let
This is calculated by total

Q2 2016/17

number of days all

Current Performance

properties remained
with the contractors to
complete works divided by

Page 109

properties vacant in the

period

void

properties

(contract)

void

N/A

N/A

Total # days Total #

vacant whilst the keys are

the total number of

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
25 days

void

properties

(contract)

void

1,334

45

Value

17 days

Value

30 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

This particular figure has improved dramatically from 39 days in Q1

amount of time a property is vacant whilst

17/18 to 30 days for Q2 which shows a positive reflection on the

works are completed

service and process reviews within that area along with the
implementation of the new teams, there is still work to be done on
improving this figure overall as this figure was at 21 days for Q2
16/17

13

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - General Needs

Total time in days from
keys in from tenant to

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void

works completed by the
contractor and the

Q2 2016/17

This is only for 'general

Current Performance

This is calculated by total

Page 110

vacant whilst the keys are

with the contractors to
complete works divided by
the total number of
general needs properties

N/A

N/A

21 days

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

(contract)

number of days general
needs properties remained

Total # properties void Value

(contract)

property is ready to be let.
needs' properties

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
25 days

1,012

31

33 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

This figure has improved from last quarter as we hopefully look to

amount of time a property is vacant whilst

see the positive outcomes of the service review

works are completed

vacant in the period

14

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - Sheltered Housing

Total time in days from
keys in from tenant to

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void

works completed by the
contractor and the

Q2 2016/17

This is only for 'sheltered'

Current Performance

This is calculated by total

Page 111

vacant whilst the keys are

with the contractors to
complete works divided by
the total number of
sheltered properties vacant

N/A

N/A

13 days

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

(contract)

number of days sheltered
properties remained

Total # properties void Value

(contract)

property is ready to be let.
properties

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
25 days

322

14

23 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

Whilst still within the targeted thresholds we have seen a rise in the

amount of time a property is vacant whilst

number of days taken for this figure, key factors behind this have

works are completed

been an increase in the turnover of tenants due to several passing
away.

in the period

15

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - General Needs

Total time in days for
properties to be let after

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void

the works were completed
by the contractor. This is
only for 'general needs'

Q2 2016/17
Current Performance

number of days general

is waiting to be let after
the contractors completed

Page 112

works divided by the total

number of general needs
properties vacant in the

N/A

N/A

3 days

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

(letting)

needs properties remained
vacant whilst the property

Total # properties void Value

(letting)

properties
This is calculated by total

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
3 days

64

35

2 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

We have seen a day reduction in times since last quarter which

amount of time a property is vacant for letting reflects the positive work and process changes within the service that
post works completion

deals with these areas.

period

16

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - Sheltered Housing

Total time in days for
properties to be let after

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void

the works were completed
by the contractor. This is

Q2 2016/17

properties

Current Performance

number of days sheltered

is waiting to be let after
the contractors completed

Page 113

works divided by the total

number of sheltered
properties vacant in the

N/A

N/A

22 days

Total # days void

Total # properties void Value

(letting)

properties remained
vacant whilst the property

Total # properties void Value

(letting)

only for 'sheltered'
This is calculated by total

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
3 days

35

14

3 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

This quarter has shown a really positive set of figures, there were not

amount of time a property is vacant for letting any properties this quarter without a waiting list which resulted in the
post works completion

total times being lower than previous months. The highest month in
Q2 was August which saw 6 properties void at a total of 26 days void

period

all together.

17

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - General Needs

Total time in days from
keys in from tenant to keys
out to the new tenant. This

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

is only for 'general needs'

Q2 2016/17

properties

Current Performance

This is calculated by total

vacant divided by the total
number of general needs
properties vacant in the
period

N/A

N/A

22 days

Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

number of days general
needs properties remained

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
28 days

1,017

31

33 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

Whilst this figure is still red we have noted that there has been a 10

number of days vacant and therefore not

day reduction since last quarter in key to key times for general

Page 114

receiving rent payments

needs, this is reflecting the team structure and process changes that
have come out of the service review which focuses on reducing these
times.

18

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - Sheltered Housing

Total time in days from
keys in from tenant to keys

Same Period Last Year
Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties

out to the new tenant. This
is only for 'general needs'

Q2 2016/17

This is calculated by total

Current Performance

N/A

properties vacant in the

31 days

Value

void

vacant divided by the total

period

N/A

Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties

needs properties remained
number of general needs

Value

void

properties
number of days general

Trend Chart

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
28 days

125.667

4.667

27 days

Page 115

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce the

A positive reduction in key to key times for sheltered housing since

number of days vacant and therefore not

last quarter which results in the Q2 figure in the green target

receiving rent payments

threshold. This is largely due to the properties that were void having
a waiting list of perspective tenants which greatly reduces void times.

19

Indicator

Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 households

P1E Return - Prevention
and Relieving of
Homelessness

Same Period Last Year

Number of potentially

Q2 2016/17

homeless cases diverted

Current Performance

from homelessness per

Trend Chart

1,000 households
Q2 2017/18
Current Target
No Target

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

2.6

Numerator

Denominator

Value

59

38.693

1.5

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Page 116

This is not a targeted measure. The number

There has been a slight drop in the number of cases of homelessness

does not reflect % of cases prevented from

prevented following on from last quarters value of 1.9 in Q1. An

homelessness and therefore will fluctuate

overall downwards trend can be observed overall in the quarter 59

dependent upon demand to the service.

cases of homelessness have been prevented, the slight drop in
numbers compared to last quarter is largely due to the housing team
focusing on transition projects and preparation for the homelessness
prevention act.

20

Indicator

% of all planning applications determined within time

Number of planning
applications determined

Same Period Last Year
# plan apps determd in # planning applications Value

within their statutory times
divided by total number of
applications received.

Q2 2016/17

Includes all application

Current Performance

types (majors, minors,

Trend Chart

time

recvd

66

72

91.67%

# plan apps determd in # planning applications Value

others)
Q2 2017/18

Page 117

Current Target
70%

time

recvd

175

183

95.63%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to determine as

Significantly above target, reflecting effective use of extensions of

many as possible within their timescales

time. 14 extensions of time agreed.

21

Indicator

Housing Benefit LA Error Rate

Local Authority error in
Housing Benefit

Same Period Last Year
Error expenditure

overpayment
Amount of benefits

Total housing benefit

Value

expend

overpaid divided by

Q2 2016/17

benefits paid (% of overall

Current Performance

expenditure)

Trend Chart

N/A

Error expenditure

N/A

0.54%

Total housing benefit

Value

expend
Q2 2017/18

Page 118

Current Target
0.42%

14,245.11

8,637,760.99

0.16%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to minimise the

The Housing Benefit LA Error rate remains within target and on track

amount of money paid in error and reduce the to receive 100% subsidy for 2017/18.
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above
0.48%)

22

Indicator

Business Rate In Year Collection Rate

Amount of Business Rates
collected in the year

Same Period Last Year
In year collection

against the total
collectable debit

Trend Chart
Total collectable debit

Value

N/A

N/A

58.31%

In year collection

Total collectable debit

Value

26,323,412.18

57.37%

amount
Q2 2016/17
Current Performance
amount
Q2 2017/18

Page 119

Current Target
58.3%

15,101,263.96

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

We are currently 0.93% behind target. This is the first year of a new

of the business rates debit as possible

rating list following the 2017 Revaluation. We anticipate a reduction
in collection rates over the next few months as we continue to rebill
those businesses that qualify for the new reliefs which are specifically
designed to assist those ratepayers most adversely affected by the
revaluation.

23

Indicator

Council Tax In Year Collection Rate

Amount of Council Tax
collected in the year

Same Period Last Year
In year collection

against the total
collectable debit

Trend Chart
Total collectable debit

Value

N/A

N/A

58.35%

In year collection

Total collectable debit

Value

43,185,387.07

57.98%

amount
Q2 2016/17
Current Performance
amount
Q2 2017/18

Page 120

Current Target
58.35%

25,038,314.22

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

We are currently 0.37% behind target. Our pro-active work in

of the Council Tax debit as possible

bringing new properties into valuation results in an increase in the
collectable debit which becomes payable over future instalments. We
will be conducting some analysis work around collection in October
and we anticipate that the end of year performance will be in line
with previous year's performance.

24

Indicator

New Homes - Affordable

Number of affordable
homes completed in the
District the period

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year

Q2 2016/17

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

0

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

6

Current Performance

Q2 2017/18
Current Target
No Target

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to increase the

There were two affordable homes completed in September.

Page 121

number of affordable properties in the District (These were two affordable rent properties in Tydd Gote.)
There were two affordable homes completed in August.

(These were two affordable rent properties in Spalding.)
There were two affordable homes completed in July.

(These were two affordable rent properties in Spalding.)

25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:
(S151)

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 21 November 2017

Author:

Sharon Hammond – Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits

Subject

Debt Management - Write Offs

Purpose:

To seek approval for the write off of uncollectable debt, and to review and
agree the process for delegated approval of debt write off.

Recommendation(s):
1) That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write off.
2) That Cabinet consider the options set out in 3.7 of this report with regards to authorisation
limits for the write off of debt.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Efficient and well administered debt management is crucial to the Council. Debt
Management and Operational Debt Write-Off Policies were approved by Cabinet in July
2017. Members requested at that meeting clarification around current delegations which
are set out in this report.

1.2

This report seeks:
a) Cabinet approval for the write off of debts identified in the report, and
b) Clarification and provides information for Members in response to the action from 25th
July Cabinet meeting, to reconsider the current arrangements and how the write off
approval process might be improved, drawing on examples of delegation in other
authorities, and having regard to good accounting practice.

2.0

WRITE OFFS FOR CABINET APPROVAL

2.1

This report presents irrecoverable debt which requires Cabinet approval for write off. A
summary of these debts is shown in the table below, totalling £133,237.55 (of which
indicative loss to South Holland £56,363).

2.2

The need to write off debt can arise for a number of reasons, including the debtor being
untraceable, insolvent, ceased trading with no assets or deceased with insufficient funds in
the estate. All methods of recovery are considered and pursued in line with legislative
provision, before making the decision to write off. This can include internal recovery action,
use of debt collection agents, external tracing agents and procedures through the Courts.

Page 123

2.3

A summary of debts, by type, requiring approval for write off is given in Table 1, whilst
Table 2 provides a view of this debt by the year to which it relates; this table also provides
for context the total collectable debit for Council Tax and Business Rates for the years in
question.

2.4

Almost 74% of the amount presented for write off is for Business Rates. Of the seventeen
accounts in question, fifteen are due to insolvency. Proof of debt claims have been made,
and whilst there is little prospect of any monies being received, any payment would be
credited to the account, and the debt written back.
Table 1 – Summary of Debt by category
Value by
Debtor

Council Tax

Business
Rates

Sundry
Debt

£
1,050 – 5,000
Over 5,000
Total

£
17,942.85
17,942.85

£
28,264.21
70.092.50
98,356.71

£
12,207.07
12,207.07

Indicative
‘loss’ to SHDC

11%
£1,974

40%
£39,343

100%
£12,207

Housing
Benefits
Overpayments
£
4,730.92

Total

4,730.92

£
66,181.97
70,092.50
133,237.55

60%
£2,839

£56,363

Table 2 – Breakdown of Debt by year

Council
Tax
£

Sundry
Debtors
£

Housing
Benefit
Overpayment
£

Total by
year
£

2010/11

675.39

2011/12

2,295.4

2012/13

3,945.1

2013/14

4,419.7

2014/15

4,071.9

23,958.07

2015/16

1,750.8

36,089.62

2,569.98

784.6

5,751.71

9,637.09

4,730.92

20,904.32

17,942.85

98,356.71

12,207.07

4,730.92

133,237.55

£225million

£151million

2016/17
Total by
category
Collectable
Debit 2011
- 2017

2.4

Business
Rates
£
-

-

-

675.39

1,750.72

-

-

4,046.12

7,006.77

-

-

10,951.84

23,799.82

-

-

2,8219.5

-

-

28,029.97

-

40,410.41

Details of individual debts are shown in the Confidential Appendices listed below. Multiple
debts for an individual are shown together. The reason provided for write is consistent with
the policy. Appendix A – Council Tax
Appendix B – Business Rates
Appendix C – Sundry Debtors

Page 124

Appendix D – Housing Benefit Overpayments
A copy of the Operational Debt Write-Off Policy is provided for reference at Appendix E:
2.5

In line with the new policy, prior to this report being presented, consultation has taken place
with the S151 Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Finance. Cabinet Members can therefore
be assured that the debts listed are irrecoverable, and that write off is the correct course of
action.

2.6

All debt approved for write off will be set against existing bad debt provisions and can be
resurrected in full or in part at any time should new information come to light suggesting
that they might be recoverable after all. In all cases collection options have been
exhausted and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

3

CURRENT DELEGATION AND PROPOSALS

3.1

The Councils Constitution provides full delegated authority to the Section 151 Officer for the
authorisation of debt write off. It is however presently custom and practice for the debts as
set out in this report with a value above £1,050, to be brought to Cabinet for approval.

3.2

A review is timely as the current process is no longer representative of the amounts of
revenue that the council deals with. It is important that officer resource is able to focus
effort on debt that is recoverable, and, whilst ensuring that all possible avenues of recovery
are exhausted in all cases, to have a mechanism to move irrecoverable debt through an
efficient authorisation process. The Operational Write-Off Policy approved in July sought to
provide assurance to Members around the process of debt management and the
identification and procedure for writing off irrecoverable debt. If all debts require Cabinet
approval, this would increase inefficiency and delay, diverting resources away from greater
effort and productivity in pursuing debt that is recoverable.

3.3

The most recent internal audit report key control testing for Revenues identifies the need for
clear processes that ensure write offs are accurately reflected within accounts.

3.4

A benchmarking exercise has been undertaken across fifteen authorities, revealing, as
might be expected, that processes and delegated limits do vary, however 12 of the 15 have
tiered delegated limits to Officers. The most common delegation limit to officers being for
debt up to £5,000. The average delegation being £4,733, and the highest delegation (in
three authorities) being up to £10,000.

3.5

Of the 15 authorities considered in this exercise, the average referral to Committee is for
irrecoverable debt of £17.5k. The processes that sit between Officer delegation and
Committee varies between authorities, but broadly includes full delegation to Section 151
Officers, or a combination of Officer / Member decision, with higher value debt referred to
Committee. Four of the local authorities have a process whereby the delegation sits wholly
with the Section 151 Officer, or jointly with a lead Member.

3.6

CIPFA provide guidance on the collection of income, and whilst there is no reference to
best practice for the writing off of debt it recognises that it is for each individual authority to
make arrangements and set its own limits to ensure that debt is appropriately authorised.

Page 125

3.7

Cabinet is requested to consider a variety of options and determine the delegation
authorisation limits it wishes to adopt. Options are set out below, and relate to the debt for
which Compass Point Business Services are responsible for delivering on behalf of the
council, i.e. Council Tax, Business Rates, Sundry Debtors and Housing Benefit
Overpayments: Option 1
Debt up to £2,000 – Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits
Above £2,000 – Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits and Section 151 Officer
Post write-off update as part of the regular budget reports to cabinet.
Option 2
Debt up to £5,000 – Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits
Above £5,000 – Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits and Section 151 Officer
Post write-off update as part of the regular budget reports to cabinet.
Option 3, existing arrangements
Debt up to £1,050 – Section 151 Officer
Above £1,050 - Cabinet
Option 4
Another variation based on the above which could include s151 and Portfolio holder for
Finance with the inclusion of update information as part of the regular budget reports to
cabinet.

4

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1

All recovery methods have been considered and where appropriate pursued, before
making the decision to write off.

4.2

Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the same time as ensuring robust
procedures for debt management are in place across all revenues streams.

5

EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

The Council has a clear position in terms of uncollectable debt, and its bad debt provision.

6

IMPLICATIONS

6.1

Constitutional & Legal

6.2.1 Recovery processes are governed by statutory provisions, and operational delivery will be
in accordance with provisions.
6.2.2

The Councils Constitution provides full delegated authority to the Section 151 Officer for the
authorisation of debt write off. Whilst this is not currently exercised, if Constitutional
changes are required this will require a decision to be taken at Full Council.

Page 126

6.2.3

In respect of the delegation of write off to the CPBS Head of Service, Revenues and
Benefits, while the Council cannot ordinarily delegate to non-Council officers regulations
allow for this where contractors are engaged in certain activity (including debt recovery).
The Service Level Agreement with Compass Point Business Services would be updated to
reflect this delegation.

6.2

Financial

6.2.1

Clear processes for the writing off of irrecoverable debt represents sound financial
management practice. Provision for bad debt is made in Council accounts.

6.3

Risk Management

6.3.1

By the nature, volume and value of annual revenue to the council there will always be
uncollectable amounts which will be recommended for write off once avenues to recover
are exhausted. Provision for bad debt is made.

7

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

All

8

ACRONYMS
CPBS – Compass Point Business Services

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Debt Management Policy

Sharon Hammond Business Manager Revenues & Benefits
sharon.hammond@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

Y

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1
(Information relating to any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information))
Appendix A

Council Tax Debts

Appendix B

Business Rates Debts

Page 127

Appendix C

Sundry Debts

Appendix D

Housing Benefit Overpayment Debts

Appendix E

Operational Debt Write Off Policy

Page 128

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 16.

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 17.

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 143

This page is intentionally left blank

